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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
‘Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-K/A
(Amendment No. 1)
(Mark one)
A ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 0-01989

Seneca Foods Corporation
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

New York 16-0733425
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization (L. R. S. Employer Identification No.
350 WillowBrook Office Park, Fairport, New York 14450
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (585) 495-4100

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock Class A, $.25 Par SENEA NASDAQ Global Select Market
Common Stock Class B, $.25 Par SENEB NASDAQ Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [ No A
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [ No ¥4
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90

days. Yes 4 No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes 4 No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth
company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

nn

Large accelerated filer [J Accelerated filer 4 Non-accelerated filer [J Smaller reporting company [~ Emerging growth company [J

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.
Yes 4 No

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the
correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of
the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). LI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [ No 4
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the Registrant as of September 30, 2022, the last business day of the
Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was $300,641,214 (based on the closing share price per market reports generated from the NASDAQ Global

Select Market System on September 30, 2022).

As of July 13,2023, there were 5,884,855 shares of Class A common stock and 1,708,781 shares of Class B common stock outstanding.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (“Amendment No. 1) amends the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Seneca Foods Corporation (the “Company”) for the year
ended March 31, 2023 as originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 13, 2023 (the “Original Filing”).

This Amendment No. 1 amends the Original Filing to reflect the restatement of the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended March 31,
2023 and 2022 in order to correct an error related to the Company’s accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method, as more fully described in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Amendment No. 1.

The restatement of the Company’s prior period financial statements to reflect this error (i) increases cost of products sold by $31.6 million and $6.3 million in fiscal years
2023 and 2022, respectively and (ii) reduces net earnings by $23.9 million and $4.8 million in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively, from the amounts previously
reported in the Original Filing.

The foregoing changes are solely related to the valuation of inventory under the LIFO method and have no impact on results under the first-in, first out (FIFO) method
of inventory accounting. As such, the adjustments described above are entirely non-cash: there is no impact on the Company’s cash position, cash flow, revenues, or
liquidity. There is no impact on the Company’s financial covenants contained within its credit agreements, which are based on FIFO results. There is no impact on
Adjusted Annual Earnings, which the Company determined to be its most important financial performance measure in its most recently filed Proxy Statement.

In connection with the LIFO valuation error, the Company’s management identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. For a discussion of management’s consideration of the
material weakness identified, see Item 9A. Controls and Procedures included in this Amendment.

Revisions to the Original Filing have been made to the following sections:
e Part], Item 1 — Business (specifically the information under the subheading “Seasonality”)
e PartI, Item 1A — Risk Factors (specifically the information under the risk factor “Tax legislation could impact future cash flows.”
e PartII, Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (originally included in Exhibit 13 to the Original
Filing)
e Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (originally included in Exhibit 13 to the Original Filing)
e PartII, Item 9A - Controls and Procedures
o Part IV, Item 15 - Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

In addition, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have provided new certifications dated as of the date of this filing in connection with
this Amendment No. 1 (Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, and 32).

Except as described above, this Amendment No. 1 does not amend, update or change any other disclosures in the Original Filing. In addition, the information contained
in this Amendment No. 1 does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the Original Filing and does not modify or update the disclosures therein, except as
specifically identified above. Among other things, forward-looking statements made in the Original Filing have not been revised to reflect events, results or
developments that occurred or facts that became known to us after the date of the Original Filing, other than the restatement, and such forward-looking statements
should be read in conjunction with our filings with the SEC, including those subsequent to the filing of the Original Filing.
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PARTI

Item 1. Business
Seasonality

While individual vegetables have seasonal cycles of peak production and sales, the different cycles are somewhat offsetting. Minimal food packaging occurs in the
Company's last fiscal quarter ending March 31, which is the optimal time for maintenance, repairs and equipment changes in its packaging plants. The supply of
commodities, current pricing, and expected new crop quantity and quality affect the timing and amount of the Company’s sales and earnings. When the seasonal
harvesting periods of the Company's major vegetables are newly completed, inventories for these packaged vegetables are at their highest levels. For peas, the peak
inventory time is mid-summer and for corn and green beans, the Company's highest volume vegetables, the peak inventory is in mid-autumn. The seasonal nature of the
Company’s production cycle results in inventory and accounts payable reaching their lowest point late in the fourth quarter/early in the first quarter prior to the new
seasonal pack commencing. As the seasonal pack progresses, these components of working capital both increase until the pack is complete.

The Company’s revenues typically are highest in the second and third fiscal quarters. This is due, in part, because the Company’s fruit and vegetable sales exhibit
seasonal increases in the third fiscal quarter due to increased retail demand during the holiday season. In addition, the Company sells canned and frozen vegetables to a
co-pack customer on a bill and hold basis at the end of each pack cycle, which typically occurs during these quarters.

These seasonal fluctuations are illustrated in the following table, which presents certain unaudited quarterly financial information for the periods indicated (in
thousands):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Restated)

Fiscal Year 2023:
Net sales $ 265,193 $ 439,842 $ 473254 $ 331,063
Gross margin 22,843 41,779 53,789 (14,092)
Net earnings 5,103 16,131 21,054 (33,057)
Fiscal Year 2022:
Net sales $ 235042 § 372,256 $ 445593 $ 332,389
Gross margin 33,623 42,728 44,985 20,260
Net earnings 14,136 11,654 18,664 1,746

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Tax legislation could impact future cash flows.

We use the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) method of inventory accounting. As of March 31, 2023, we had a LIFO reserve of $302.4 million (restated) which, at the U.S.
corporate tax rate, represents approximately $75.6 million (restated) of income taxes, payment of which is delayed to future dates based upon changes in inventory costs.
From time-to-time, discussions regarding changes in U.S. tax laws have included the potential of LIFO being repealed. Should LIFO be repealed, the $75.6 million
(restated) of postponed taxes, plus any future benefit realized prior to the date of repeal, would likely have to be repaid over some period of time. Repayment of these
postponed taxes will reduce the amount of cash that we would have available to fund our operations, working capital, capital expenditures, expansions, acquisitions or
general corporate or other business activities. This could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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PARTII

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Our Business

Seneca is a leading provider of packaged fruits and vegetables, with facilities located throughout the United States. Its high quality products are primarily sourced from
approximately 1,400 American farms. The Company’s product offerings include canned, frozen and bottled produce, and snack chips. Its products are sold under private
label as well as national and regional brands that the Company owns or licenses, including Seneca®, Libby’s®, Aunt Nellie’s®, Cherryman®, Green Valley® and
READ®. The Company’s fruits and vegetables are sold nationwide by major grocery outlets, including supermarkets, mass merchandisers, limited assortment stores,
club stores and dollar stores. The Company also sells its products to foodservice distributors, restaurants chains, industrial markets, other food processors, export
customers in approximately 60 countries and federal, state and local governments for school and other food programs. Additionally, the Company packs canned and
frozen vegetables under contract packing agreements.

The Company’s business strategies are designed to grow its market share and enhance sales and margins. These strategies include: 1) expand the Company’s leadership
in the packaged fruit and vegetable industry; 2) provide low cost, high quality vegetable products to consumers through the elimination of costs from the Company’s
supply chain and investment in state-of-the-art production and logistical technology; 3) focus on growth opportunities to capitalize on higher expected returns; and 4)
pursue strategic acquisitions that leverage the Company’s core competencies.

All references to years are fiscal years ended March 31 unless otherwise indicated.
Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

On July 25, 2023, we reported that we had identified an error related to our accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method of accounting as of March 31, 2023
and 2022. An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO method is made at the end of each fiscal year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. During the
formulaic valuation of actual inventory values at fiscal year end, incorrect quantities were applied to the calculation which resulted in an understatement of the LIFO
reserve as of March 31, 2023 and 2022. Management determined that correct LIFO quantities were applied to the actual valuation of LIFO at year end prior to fiscal year
2022, as only trivial differences were noted during Management's examination. In contrast, interim LIFO calculations are based on management’s estimates of expected
year-end inventory levels, production pack yields, sales and the expected rate of inflation or deflation for the year. The interim LIFO calculations are subject to
adjustment in the final year-end LIFO inventory valuation.

See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of the effects of the restatement on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Net
Earnings and Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Fluctuations in Commodity, Production, Distribution and Labor Costs

We purchase raw materials, including raw produce, steel, ingredients and packaging materials from growers, commodity processors, steel producers and packaging
suppliers. Raw materials and other input costs, such as labor, fuel, utilities and transportation, are subject to fluctuations in price attributable to a number of factors.
Fluctuations in commodity prices can lead to retail price volatility and can influence consumer and trade buying patterns. The cost of raw materials, fuel, labor,
distribution and other costs related to our operations can increase from time to time significantly and unexpectedly.

We continue to experience material cost inflation for many of our raw materials and other input costs attributable to a number of factors, including but not limited to,
supply chain disruptions (including raw material shortages), labor shortages, and the war in Ukraine. While we have no direct exposure to Russia and Ukraine, we have
experienced increased costs for transportation, energy, and raw materials due in part to the negative impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict on the global economy. We
attempt to manage cost inflation risks by locking in prices through short-term supply contracts, advance grower purchase agreements, and by implementing cost saving
measures. We also attempt to offset rising input costs by raising sales prices to our customers. However, increases in the prices we charge our customers may lag
behind rising input costs. Competitive pressures also may limit our ability to quickly raise prices in response to rising costs. To the extent we are unable to avoid or
offset any present or future cost increases our operating results could be materially adversely affected.

2
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Results of Operations - Fiscal Year 2023 versus Fiscal Year 2022
Net Sales:
The following table presents net sales by product category (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022
Canned vegetables $ 1253257 $ 1,135,983
Frozen vegetables 121,211 123,895
Fruit products 91,495 84,708
Snack products 12,661 12,332
Other 30,728 28,362
$ 1,509,352 $ 1,385,280

Net sales for fiscal year 2023 totaled $1,509.4 million as compared to $1,385.3 million for fiscal year 2022. The overall net sales increase of $124.1 million, or 9.0%, was due
to higher selling prices contributing favorability of $204.0 million offset by lower sales volumes having an unfavorable impact of $79.9 million to net sales, as compared
to the prior fiscal year.

Net sales of canned vegetables, fruit products, and snack products increased over the prior fiscal year due to higher pricing necessitated by the material cost increases
that the Company is experiencing. Volume in each of these product categories is down versus the prior fiscal year partially offsetting a portion of the favorability in net
sales generated by increased pricing. Net sales in the frozen vegetable category decreased as compared to the prior fiscal year as increased pricing did not offset volume
declines, primarily in the frozen contract packing sales channel.

Operating Income:

The following table sets forth the percentages of net sales represented by selected items for fiscal year 2023 and fiscal year 2022 reflected in our consolidated statements
of net earnings:

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Gross margin 6.9% 10.2%
Selling, general, and administrative expense 54% 5.5%
Other operating (income) expense, net -0.1% 0.1%
Operating income 1.4% 4.6%
Loss from equity investment 0.0% 0.6%
Other non-operating income -0.4% -0.7%
Interest expense, net 0.9% 04%
Income taxes 0.3% 1.0%

Gross Margin (restated) — Gross margin is equal to net sales less cost of products sold. As a percentage of net sales, gross margin was 6.9% for fiscal year 2023 as
compared to 10.2% for fiscal year 2022. This decrease in gross margin was due primarily to a LIFO charge of $131.6 million in fiscal year 2023 versus a LIFO charge of
$42.2 million in fiscal year 2022, a year over year negative impact to gross margin of $89.4 million. Fiscal year 2023’s large LIFO charge was driven by cost inflation for
various inputs, including steel, commodities, labor, ingredients, packaging, fuel and transportation.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense — Selling, general and administrative expense was 5.4% of net sales in fiscal year 2023 and 5.5% of net sales in fiscal year
2022. The decrease as a percentage of net sales is primarily due to higher sales and the fixed nature of certain expenses.

Other Operating (Income) Expense, net — The Company had net other operating income of $1.7 million in fiscal year 2023, which was driven primarily by gains on the
sale of the Company’s western trucking fleet and an aircraft, along with a favorable true-up of the supplemental early retirement plan accrual. This other operating
income was partially offset by a write down of idle equipment to estimated selling price, less commission, as the assets met the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

3
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The Company had net other operating expense of $1.2 million in fiscal year 2022, which was driven by charges for supplemental early retirement plans and to maintain
non-operating facilities classified as held for sale. These charges were partially offset by a net gain on the sale of assets and a gain from debt forgiveness on an
economic development loan.

Restructuring — During fiscal year 2023, the Company incurred restructuring charges of $3.6 million primarily due to ceasing production of green beans at a plant in the
Northeast. The charges mainly consisted of severance and write-downs of production equipment that was to be scrapped or sold. The Company did not incur
significant restructuring charges during fiscal year 2022.

Non-Operating Income:

Loss from Equity Investment — During fiscal year 2022, the Company incurred a pre-tax operating loss, including an impairment charge, of $7.8 million in connection with
its equity investment that experienced a decline in value deemed other-than-temporary. The Company’s equity investment was written down to $0 as of March 31, 2022,
and therefore no loss was incurred from equity investment during fiscal year 2023.

Interest Expense, Net — Interest expense as a percentage of net sales was 0.9% for fiscal year 2023 as compared to 0.4% for fiscal year 2022. Interest expense increased
from $5.6 million in the prior fiscal year to $14.3 million for fiscal year 2023 as a result of higher interest rates and increased borrowing levels.

Other Non-Operating Income Expense — Other non-operating income totaled $6.8 million and $9.3 million in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is comprised of
the non-service related pension amounts that are actuarially determined. The amounts can either be income or expense depending on the results of the actuarial
calculations. For details of the calculation of these amounts, refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes (restated) — As a result of the aforementioned factors, pre-tax earnings decreased from $59.9 million in fiscal year 2022 to $13.8 million in fiscal year 2023.
Income tax expense totaled $4.6 million and $13.7 million in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate, as restated in fiscal years 2023 and
2022, was 33.1% and 22.9%, respectively. In fiscal year 2023, the Company added a valuation allowance against state tax credits because it was determined that it was
more likely than not that the credits will not be used prior to expiration. This change, along with other current year increases in the existing valuation allowances, had a
9.0% increase on the fiscal year 2023 effective tax rate as compared to fiscal year 2022. The fiscal year 2023 effective tax rate was further increased by 2.5% versus fiscal
year 2022 due to state rate changes which were mostly caused by changes in the Company’s business activities that impact state apportionment.

Earnings per Share:

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Basic earnings per common share $ 119 § 528
Diluted earnings per common share: $ 1.16 § 524

For details of the calculation of these amounts, refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Results of Operations - Fiscal Year 2022 versus Fiscal Year 2021
Net Sales:

The following table presents net sales by product category (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2022 2021
Canned vegetables $ 1,135983 $ 1,172,635
Frozen vegetables 123,895 102,197
Fruit products 84,708 88,431
Snack products 12,332 10,999
Prepared foods - 71,866
Other 28,362 21,516
$ 1,385280 $ 1,467,644
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Net sales for fiscal year 2022 totaled $1,385.3 million as compared to $1,467.6 million for fiscal year 2021. The overall net sales decrease was $82.3 million, or 5.6%. Of the
$82.3 million decrease in net sales, $71.9 million of the decrease resulted from the divestiture of the prepared foods business in fiscal year 2021. Excluding this
divestiture, net sales decreased by $10.4 million year over year. This decrease was primarily due to lower sales volumes, which equated to a $93.0 million decrease in net
sales that was partially offset by higher selling prices/improved sales mix generating a favorable impact to net sales of $82.6 million compared to the prior fiscal year.

When comparing net sales for fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2021, canned vegetable sales decreased $36.7 million, as there was extraordinary sales demand during fiscal
year 2021, particularly the first nine months, due to consumer pantry loading that was experienced at the onset of the pandemic and continued throughout fiscal year
2021. Prepared foods decreased $71.9 million due to exiting the business in fiscal year 2021 after the sale of the prepared foods business. Additionally, there was a $3.7
million decrease in fruit product sales. The noted decreases to net sales were partially offset by a $21.7 million increase in frozen vegetable sales driven by increased
sales volumes, a $1.3 million increase in snack product sales, and a $6.8 million increase in other sales.

Operating Income:

The following table sets forth the percentages of net sales represented by selected items for fiscal year 2022 and fiscal year 2021 reflected in our consolidated statements
of net earnings:

Fiscal Year

2022 2021
Gross margin 102% 15.8%
Selling, general, and administrative expense 5.5% 54%
Other operating expense (income), net 0.1% -2.0%
Operating income 4.6% 12.3%
Loss from equity investment 0.6% 0.8%
Other non-operating (income) expense -0.7% 0.2%
Interest expense, net 04% 04%
Income taxes 1.0% 2.3%

Gross Margin (restated) — Gross margin is equal to net sales less cost of products sold. As a percentage of net sales, gross margin was 10.2% for fiscal year 2022 as
compared to 15.8% for fiscal year 2021. This decrease in gross margin was due primarily to a LIFO charge of $42.2 million in fiscal year 2022 versus a LIFO credit of $15.6
million in fiscal year 2021, a year over year negative impact to gross margin of $57.8 million. Fiscal year 2022’s large LIFO charge was driven by cost inflation for various
inputs, including steel, commodities, labor, ingredients, packaging, fuel and transportation.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense — Selling, general and administrative expense was 5.5% of net sales in fiscal year 2022 and 5.4% of net sales in fiscal year
2021. The increase as a percentage of net sales is primarily due to lower sales and the fixed nature of certain expenses.

Other Operating Expense (Income), net — The Company had net other operating expense of $1.2 million in fiscal year 2022, which was driven by charges for
supplemental early retirement plans of $2.5 million and $1.1 million of charges to maintain non-operating facilities classified as held for sale. These charges were offset by
a net gain on the sale of assets of $1.6 million, a gain from debt forgiveness on an economic development loan of $0.5 million, and income from land rental of $0.3 million.

The Company had net other operating income of $29.0 million in fiscal year 2021, which was primarily comprised of a net gain on the sale of assets of $31.9 million,
including the gain realized upon the divestiture of the prepared foods business. The gain was partially offset by charges to maintain non-operational plants acquired in
the Midwest of $1.5 million, a charge for a supplemental early retirement plan of $1.2 million, and a charge for severance of $0.2 million.

Restructuring — The Company did not incur significant restructuring charges during fiscal years 2022 or 2021.
Non-Operating Income:

Loss from Equity Investment — The Company’s loss from equity investment was $7.8 million and $11.5 million for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. Management
assesses the potential for an other-than-temporary impairment of its equity method investment when impairment indicators are identified by considering all available
information, including the recoverability of the investment, the earnings and near-term prospects of the investment, factors related to the industry, amongst others
relevant information. If an investment is considered to be impaired and the decline in value is other than temporary, an impairment charge is recorded. During fiscal year
2022, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $6.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the equity method investment to $0, as the value of the investment was
determined to not be recoverable. During fiscal year 2021, the Company had recorded an other-than-temporary impairment charge of $9.7 million to its equity method
investment representing the difference between the carrying value of the Company’s investment and its proportionate share of the investment’s fair value.
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Interest Expense, Net — Interest expense, net, was $5.6 million in fiscal year 2022 as compared to $6.1 million in fiscal year 2021. The decrease of $0.5 million was due
mostly to lower average outstanding borrowings on the Company’s revolving credit facility and lower average interest rates during fiscal year 2022 versus fiscal year
2021.

Other Non-Operating (Income) Expense — Other non-operating (income) expense totaled ($9.3 million) and $3.5 million in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is
comprised of the non-service related pension amounts that are actuarially determined. The amounts can either be income or expense depending on the results of the
actuarial calculations. For details of the calculation of these amounts, refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes (restated) — As a result of the aforementioned factors, pre-tax earnings decreased from $160.0 million in fiscal year 2021 to $59.9 million in fiscal year 2022.
Income tax expense totaled $13.7 million and $33.9 million in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. The effective tax rate was 22.9% and 21.2% in fiscal years 2022 and
2021, respectively. In fiscal year 2021, the Company was able to carryback the NOL generated in the 2019 tax year at a 21% corporate tax rate to the 2015 tax year at a 35%
corporate tax rate. The NOL carryback had a 2.8% decrease on the fiscal year 2021 rate and without this impact in fiscal year 2022, the tax rate effectively increased by
2.8% when comparing fiscal year 2022 to 2021. The year over year increase in the effective tax rate was partially offset by a decrease of 0.6% due to the federal income
tax credits having a larger impact on the effective tax rate in fiscal year 2022, amongst other decreases noted in the table above.

Earnings per Share:

Fiscal Year
2022 2021
(Restated)
Basic earnings per common share $ 528 $ 13.82
Diluted earnings per common share: $ 524§ 1372

For details of the calculation of these amounts, refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources:

Material Cash Requirements — The Company’s primary liquidity requirements include debt service, capital expenditures and working capital needs. Liquidity
requirements are funded primarily through cash generated from operations and external sources of financing, including the revolving credit facility. The Company does
not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Summary of Cash Flows — The following table presents a summary of the Company’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (212,796) $ 30,152
Cash used in investing activities (64,877) (45,187)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 279,025 (33,898)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,352 (48,933)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,904 59,837
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 12,256 § 10,904

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities — For fiscal year 2023, cash used in operating activities was $212.8 million, which consisted of a use of cash of
$262.5 million (restated) by operating assets and liabilities partially offset by net earnings of $9.2 million (restated), adjusted by non-cash charges of $40.5 million
(restated). The non-cash charges were largely driven by $40.9 million of depreciation and amortization. The change in operating assets and liabilities was largely due to
inventories being a use of cash driven by the increased size of the fiscal year 2023 harvest in addition to material cost inflation to various production inputs.
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For fiscal year 2022, cash provided by operating activities was $30.2 million, which consisted of net earnings of $46.2 million (restated), adjusted by non-cash charges of
$50.5 million (restated), partially offset by a use of cash of $66.5 million (restated) in operating assets and liabilities. The non-cash charges were largely driven by $36.5
million of depreciation and amortization. The change in operating assets and liabilities was largely due to inventories being a use of cash driven by a planned effort to
raise inventory levels after the increased sales demand stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic significantly reduced inventory levels in the prior year. In addition to
planning a larger seasonal pack to replenish depleted inventory, the Company began to experience material input cost inflation during fiscal year 2022, making the
seasonal pack more costly to the Company.

The cash requirements of the business fluctuate significantly throughout the year to coincide with the seasonal growing cycles of vegetables. The majority of the
inventories are produced during the packing months, from June through November, and are then sold over the following year. Cash flow from operating activities is one
of the Company’s main sources of liquidity.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities — Net cash used in investing activities was $64.9 million for fiscal year 2023 and consisted of cash used for capital expenditures of
$70.6 million partially offset by proceeds from the sale of assets totaling $5.7 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $45.2 million for fiscal year 2022 and consisted of cash used for capital expenditures of $53.4 million partially offset by proceeds
from the sale of assets totaling $8.2 million.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities — Net cash provided by financing activities was $279.0 million for fiscal year 2023, driven primarily by receiving
proceeds from a new term loan of $175 million and an increase in net borrowings on the Company’s revolving credit facility of $160.1 million during fiscal year 2023. Cash
used to purchase treasury stock of $41.2 million and to make payments on financing leases of $8.8 million partially offset the cash provided by financing activities.

Net cash used in financing activities was $33.9 million for fiscal year 2022, driven mostly by purchasing treasury stock of $38.8 million and by making payments of $7.9
million on financing leases. The use of cash in financing was partially offset by an increase in net borrowings on the Company’s revolving credit facility of $19.5 million.

Debt - The Company’s primary cash requirements are to make payments on the Company’s debt, finance seasonal working capital needs and to make capital
expenditures. Internally generated funds and amounts available under the revolving credit facility are the Company’s primary sources of liquidity, although the Company
believes it has the ability to raise additional capital by issuing additional stock, if it desires.

Revolving Credit Facility — On March 24, 2021, the Company entered into a Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement that provides for a senior
revolving credit facility of up to $400.0 million that is seasonally adjusted (the “Revolver”).

Maximum borrowing availability under the Revolver totals $300.0 million from April through July and $400.0 million from August through March. In order to maintain
availability of funds under the facility, the Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolver.

The Revolver is secured by substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable and inventories and contains borrowing base requirements as well as a financial
covenant, if certain circumstances apply. The Company utilizes its Revolver for general corporate purposes, including seasonal working capital needs, to pay debt
principal and interest obligations, and to fund capital expenditures and acquisitions. Seasonal working capital needs are affected by the growing cycles of the fruits and
vegetables the Company packages. The majority of vegetable inventories are produced during the months of June through November and are then sold over the
following year. Payment terms for vegetable produce are generally three months but can vary from a few days to seven months. Accordingly, the Company’s need to
draw on the Revolver may fluctuate significantly throughout the year.

As of March 31, 2023 and 2022, the Revolver balance was $180.6 million and $20.5 million, respectively, and is included in Long-Term Debt in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet due to the Revolver’s March 24, 2026 maturity.

The following table documents the quantitative data for short-term borrowings on the Revolver during fiscal years 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
Outstanding borrowings $ 180,598  § 20,508
Interest rate 6.34% 1.71%
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Fiscal Year:

2023 2022
Maximum amount of borrowings $ 350,828 $ 58,323
Average outstanding borrowings $ 159,670 $ 22,357
Weighted average interest rate 5.03% 1.37%

Long-Term Debt — On May 28, 2020 the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement with Farm Credit East, ACA that provides for a
$100.0 million unsecured term loan (“Term Loan”). The amended and restated agreement has a maturity date of June 1, 2025 and converted the Term Loan to a fixed
interest rate rather than a variable interest rate in addition to requiring quarterly principal payments of $1.0 million, which commenced during fiscal year 2021. The
Company incurred financing costs totaling $0.2 million which have been classified as a discount to the debt and are amortized over the life of the Term Loan. This
agreement contains certain covenants, including maintaining a minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net worth.

On January 20, 2023, the Company entered into a Second Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement with Farm Credit East, ACA (the “Amended
Agreement”). The Amended Agreement governs two term loans, summarized below:

Term Loan A-1: The Amended Agreement continues certain aspects of the $100 million term loan described above, namely Term Loan A-1 will continue to bear interest
at a fixed interest rate of 3.3012%, mature on June 1, 2025, and remain unsecured.

Term Loan A-2: The Amended Agreement adds an additional term loan in the amount of $175 million that will mature on January 20, 2028, and is secured by a portion of
the Company’s property, plant and equipment. Term Loan A-2 bears interest at a variable interest rate based upon the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) plus an
additional margin determined by the Company’s leverage ratio.

The Amended Agreement for Term Loan A-1 and Term Loan A-2 (collectively, the “Term Loans”) contains restrictive covenants usual and customary for loans of its
type, in addition to financial covenants including minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net worth which apply to both term loans described above. In connection
with the Amended Agreement, the Company incurred $0.6 million of financing costs which will be deferred and amortized over the life of Term Loan A-2.

As of March 31, 2023, scheduled maturities of long-term debt in each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter are presented below. The Revolver balance is
presented as being due in fiscal year 2026, based upon the Revolver’s March 24, 2026 maturity date (in thousands):

2024 $ 10,000
2025 10,000
2026 267,598
2027 6,000
2028 149,500
Thereafter 216
Total $ 443314

The Company believes that its cash flows from operations, availability under its Revolver, and cash and cash equivalents on hand will provide adequate funds for the
Company’s working capital needs, planned capital expenditures, operating and administrative expenses, and debt service obligations for at least the next 12 months and
the foreseeable future.

Restrictive Covenants — The Company’s debt agreements, including the Revolver and Term Loans, contain customary affirmative and negative covenants that restrict,
with specified exceptions, the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, pay dividends on the Company’s capital stock, make other restricted
payments, including investments, transfer all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, enter into consolidations or mergers, and enter into transactions with
affiliates. The Company’s debt agreements also require the Company to meet certain financial covenants including a minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net worth.
The Revolver contains borrowing base requirements related to accounts receivable and inventories and also requires the Company to meet a financial covenant related
to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio if (a) an event of default has occurred or (b) availability on the Revolver is less than the greater of (i) 10% of the commitments
then in effect and (ii) $25,000,000. The most restrictive financial covenant in the debt agreements is the minimum EBITDA within the Term Loans which for fiscal year
2023 was greater than $75 million in EBITDA. The Company computes its financial covenants as if the Company were on the first-in, first out (FIFO) method of inventory
accounting. The Company has met all such financial covenants as of March 31, 2023.

The Company's debt agreements limit the payment of dividends and other distributions. There is an annual total distribution limitation of $50,000, less aggregate annual
dividend payments totaling $23,000 that the Company presently pays on two outstanding classes of preferred stock.
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Standby Letters of Credit — The Company has standby letters of credit for certain insurance-related requirements. The majority of the Company’s standby letters of
credit are automatically renewed annually, unless the issuer gives cancellation notice in advance. On March 31, 2023, the Company had $2.9 million in outstanding
standby letters of credit. These standby letters of credit are supported by the Company’s Revolver and reduce borrowings available under the Revolver.

Obligations and Commitments:

The Company is party to many contractual obligations involving commitments to make payments to third parties. These obligations impact the Company’s short-term
and long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. Certain contractual obligations are reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2023, while others are
considered future obligations. Our contractual obligations primarily consist of operating leases, purchase obligations and commitments, long-term debt and related
interest payments, and income taxes. All of these arrangements require cash payments over varying periods of time. Certain of these arrangements are cancelable on
short notice and others require additional payments as part of any early termination.

See Notes 8 and 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to the Company’s long-term debt and operating and financing leases,
respectively.

Purchase obligations and commitments consist of open purchase orders to purchase raw materials, including raw produce, steel, ingredients and packaging materials, as
well as commitments for products and services used in the normal course of business. The Company expects that the majority of these purchase obligations and
commitments will be settled within one year.

The Company’s contractual obligations related to income taxes are primarily related to unrecognized tax benefits. See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for information related to income taxes.

The Company has no off-balance sheet debt or other unrecorded obligations other than purchase commitments noted above.
Impact of Seasonality on Financial Position and Results of Operations:

While individual vegetables have seasonal cycles of peak production and sales, the different cycles are somewhat offsetting. Minimal food packaging occurs in the
Company's last fiscal quarter ending March 31, which is the optimal time for maintenance, repairs and equipment changes in its packaging plants. The supply of
commodities, current pricing, and expected new crop quantity and quality affect the timing and amount of the Company’s sales and earnings. When the seasonal
harvesting periods of the Company's major vegetables are newly completed, inventories for these packaged vegetables are at their highest levels. For peas, the peak
inventory time is mid-summer and for corn and green beans, the Company's highest volume vegetables, the peak inventory is in mid-autumn. The seasonal nature of the
Company’s production cycle results in inventory and accounts payable reaching their lowest point late in the fourth quarter/early in the first quarter prior to the new
seasonal pack commencing. As the seasonal pack progresses, these components of working capital both increase until the pack is complete.

The Company’s revenues typically are highest in the second and third fiscal quarters. This is due, in part, because the Company’s fruit and vegetable sales exhibit
seasonal increases in the third fiscal quarter due to increased retail demand during the holiday season. In addition, the Company sells canned and frozen vegetables to a
co-pack customer on a bill and hold basis at the end of each pack cycle, which typically occurs during these quarters. The following table shows quarterly information
for selected financial statements items during fiscal years 2023, and 2022 to illustrate the Company’s seasonal business (in thousands):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Restated)

Fiscal Year 2023:
Net sales $ 265,193  $ 439842 § 473254 § 331,063
Gross margin 22,843 41,779 53,789 (14,092)
Net earnings 5,103 16,131 21,054 (33,057)
Revolver outstanding (at quarter end) 78,965 229213 313,808 180,598
Fiscal Year 2022:
Net sales $ 235042 $ 372,256 $ 445593 § 332,389
Gross margin 33,623 42,728 44985 20,260
Net earnings 14,136 11,654 18,664 1,746
Revolver outstanding (at quarter end) 1,000 51,679 33,711 20,508
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates:

Revenue Recognition and Trade Promotion Expenses — Revenue recognition is completed for most customers at a point in time basis when product control is
transferred to the customer. In general, control transfers to the customer when the product is shipped or delivered to the customer based upon applicable shipping
terms, as the customer can direct the use and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the asset at this point in time. During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, the
Company sold certain finished goods inventory for cash on a bill and hold basis. The terms of the bill and hold agreement(s) provide that title to the specified inventory
is transferred to the customer(s) prior to shipment and the Company has the right to payment (prior to physical delivery) which results in recorded revenue as
determined under the revenue recognition standard.

Trade promotions are an important component of the sales and marketing of the Company’s branded products and are critical to the support of the business. Trade
promotion costs, which are recorded as a reduction of net sales, include amounts paid to encourage retailers to offer temporary price reductions for the sale of the
Company’s products to consumers, amounts paid to obtain favorable display positions in retail stores, and amounts paid to retailers for shelf space in retail stores.
Accruals for trade promotions are recorded primarily at the time of sale of product to the retailer based on expected levels of performance. Settlement of these liabilities
typically occurs in subsequent periods primarily through an authorized process for deductions taken by a retailer from amounts otherwise due to the Company. As a
result, the ultimate cost of a trade promotion program is dependent on the relative success of the events and the actions and level of deductions taken by retailers for
amounts they consider due to them. Final determination of the permissible deductions may take extended periods of time.

Inventories — The Company uses the lower of cost, determined under the LIFO (last-in, first-out) method, or market, to value substantially all of its inventories. In a high
inflation environment that the Company is experiencing, the Company believes that the LIFO method was preferable over the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method because it
better matches the cost of current production to current revenue. An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO method is made at the end of each fiscal year based
on the inventory levels and costs at that time. In contrast, interim LIFO calculations are based on management’s estimates of expected year-end inventory levels,
production pack yields, sales and the expected rate of inflation or deflation for the year. The interim LIFO calculations are subject to adjustment in the final year-end
LIFO inventory valuation.

Long-Lived Assets — The Company assesses its long-lived assets for impairment whenever there is an indicator of impairment. Property, plant, and equipment are
depreciated over their assigned lives. The assigned lives and the projected cash flows used to test impairment are subjective. If actual lives are shorter than anticipated
or if future cash flows are less than anticipated, a future impairment charge or a loss on disposal of the assets could be incurred. Impairment losses are evaluated if the
estimated undiscounted value of the cash flows is less than the carrying value. If such is the case, a loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its
fair value.

Income Taxes — As part of the income tax provision process of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company estimates income taxes. This process
involves estimating current tax expenses together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Company then assesses the likelihood that any deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable
income and to the extent it is believed the recovery is not likely, a valuation allowance is established. Refer to Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the full tax reconciliation.

Pension Expense — The Company has a defined benefit plan which is subject to certain actuarial assumptions. The funded status of the pension plan is dependent
upon many factors, including returns on invested assets and the level of certain market interest rates, employee-related demographic factors, such as turnover,
retirement age and mortality, and the rate of salary increases. Certain assumptions reflect the Company's historical experience and management’s best judgment
regarding future expectations. The pension plan’s funded status increased by $6.4 million during fiscal year 2023 reflecting the actual fair value of plan assets and the
projected benefit obligation as of March 31, 2023. This funded status increase was primarily driven by actuarial gains on the projected benefit obligation, as described in
more detail below, partially offset by a combination of growth in the plan’s projected benefit obligation due to service cost and interest cost and a negative return on
plan assets.

-During fiscal year 2023, the actuarial gain in the pension plan’s projected benefit obligation was driven by an increase in discount rates and the annual update in plan
census data resulting in demographic gains, partially offset by an assumed salary increase rate for fiscal year 2024 in excess of the long-term rate. During fiscal year
2022, the actuarial gain in the pension plan’s projected benefit obligation was primarily driven by an increase in discount rates. The gain was partially offset by actuarial
losses due to a combination of data revisions resulting in the demographic losses, a change in near-term assumed salary increases, and an update to the most recently
released mortality projection scale by the Society of Actuaries (SOA). Plan assets decreased from $327.9 million as of March 31, 2022 to $294.3 million as of March 31,
2023 primarily due to normal payments of benefits and a negative return on plan assets.
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The pension plan was amended to freeze accruals to new hires and rehires effective January 1, 2020. Refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the full pension plan disclosures.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:

Certain disclosures in this report include non-GAAP financial measures. A non-GAAP financial measure is defined as a numerical measure of our financial performance
that excludes or includes amounts so as to be different from the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP in our
consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of net earnings, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity and cash flows.

Adjusted net earnings is calculated on a FIFO basis and excludes the impact of the Company’s loss on equity investment. The Company believes this non-GAAP
financial measure provides for a better comparison of year-over-year operating performance. The Company does not intend for this information to be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for other measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. Set forth below is a reconciliation of reported net earnings to adjusted net earnings (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Earnings before taxes, as reported $ 13,793 § 59,895
LIFO charge 131,611 42,157
Loss on equity investment - 7,775
Adjusted earnings before taxes 145,404 109,827
Income taxes(1) 37,596 24,108
Adjusted net earnings $ 107,808 § 85,719

(1) For fiscal years 2023 and 2022, income taxes on adjusted earnings before taxes were calculated using the restated income tax provision amounts of $4.6 million and
$13.7 million, respectively, and applying the effective statutory tax rates of 25.1% and 24.7%, respectively, to the pre-tax LIFO charge.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards:

Effective April 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,
which was subsequently amended in November 2018 through ASU No. 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (“ASU
2016-137). The amended guidance requires entities to estimate lifetime expected credit losses for trade and other receivables, including those that are current with
respect to payment terms, along with other financial instruments which may result in earlier recognition of credit losses. The Company evaluated its existing
methodology for estimating an allowance for doubtful accounts and the risk profile of its receivables portfolio and developed a model that includes the qualitative and
forecasting aspects of the “expected loss” model under the amended guidance. In determining the Company’s reserve for credit losses, receivables are assigned an
expected loss based on historical information adjusted for forward-looking economic factors. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU
2020-04”). ASU 2020-04 provides an optional expedient and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by
reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The optional guidance can be applied from March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. ASU 2020-04 eases the potential
accounting burden associated with the expected discontinuance of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and other interbank offered rates, which are being
replaced by alternative reference rates such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). The interest rates associated with the Company’s previous borrowings
under its senior revolving credit facility (as defined in Note 8, “Long-term Debt”) were tied to LIBOR. Subsequent to the amendment of the senior revolving credit
facility agreement on September 14, 2022, the Company’s borrowings are tied to SOFR plus a spread adjustment (see Note 8, “Long-term Debt”). The adoption of ASU
2020-04 as a result of this amendment did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

There were no other recently issued accounting pronouncements that impacted the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Company did not
adopt any other new accounting pronouncements during fiscal year 2023.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Seneca Foods Corporation.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Seneca Foods Corporation (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, the related statements
of consolidated net earnings, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2023,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended March 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the material weakness discussed in Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, as to which the date is July 31, 2023) expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements
As described in Note 2, the 2023 and 2022 consolidated financial statements have been restated to correct a misstatement.
Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of Inventory — Refer to Notes 1, 2, and 5 in the consolidated financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

At March 31, 2023, the Company’s inventory was $670.9 million. As described in Notes 1, 2, and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company accounts for
substantially all its inventory at the lower of cost, determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, or market. As permitted by U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles, the Company maintains its inventory costs and cost of goods sold on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and adjusts total inventory and cost of goods sold from
FIFO to LIFO at the end of each year. The Company values its inventory under the LIFO method based on the inventory levels and the prevailing inventory costs
existing at that time.

We identified valuation of inventory as a critical audit matter because of the significant assumptions, manual calculations, and judgements in the LIFO reserve. Auditing
management’s calculation was complex and required a high degree of auditor judgement and subjectivity when performing audit procedures and evaluating the audit

evidence obtained.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the Company’s LIFO reserve included the following, among others:
e  We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s calculation of the adjustments to

convert FIFO inventory balances to LIFO, including controls over management’s review of the manual calculations described above.
o  We tested the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of the underlying data used in management’s calculation to adjust the FIFO inventory balances to LIFO.

e Tested the calculations and application of management’s methodologies related to the valuation estimates of the LIFO reserve.

e  Tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s manual calculation.

/s/ Plante Moran, P.C.
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Southfield, Michigan
June 13, 2023 (except for the effect of the restatement disclosed in Notes 2 and 5, as to which the date is July 31, 2023)
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)

Net sales $ 1,509352 $ 1,385280 $ 1,467,644
Costs and expenses:

Cost of products sold 1,405,033 1,243,684 1,235,459

Selling, general, and administrative expense 81,072 76,343 79,950

Other operating (income) expense, net (1,662) 1,174 (29,014)

Plant restructuring 3,550 70 182

Total costs and expenses 1,487,993 1,321,271 1,286,577

Operating income 21,359 64,009 181,067
Other income and expenses:

Interest expense, net of interest income of $528, $63 and $42, respectively 14,325 5,641 6,125

Loss from equity investment - 7,775 11,453

Other non-operating (income) expense (6,759) (9,302) 3473
Earnings before income taxes 13,793 59,895 160,016
Income taxes 4,562 13,695 33916
Net earnings $ 9231 $ 46,200 $ 126,100
Earnings per share:

Basic $ .19 $ 528 § 13.82

Diluted $ 116 $ 524§ 13.72
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 7,796 8,707 9,088

Diluted 7,870 8,778 9,158

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings $ 9231 $ 46,200 $ 126,100
Change in pension and postretirement benefits, net of tax expense (benefit) of $1,999,
($2,423) and $19,528, respectively 5,980 (7,401) 60,153
Total $ 15211 $ 38799 $ 186,253

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)

As of?:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 12256 $ 10,904
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $34 and $54, respectively 97,101 119,169
Inventories 670,898 403,995
Assets held for sale 4,358 5,979
Refundable income taxes 6,976 5446
Other current assets 2,450 5,193
Total current assets 794,039 550,686
Property, plant, and equipment, net 301,212 268,043
Right-of-use assets operating, net 23,235 34,008
Right-of-use assets financing, net 33,571 34,867
Pension assets 59,304 52,866
Other assets 1,360 1,804
Total assets $ 1212721  $ 942,274
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 69,232 § 87,602
Deferred revenue 9,956 7,655
Accrued vacation 11,143 11,611
Accrued payroll 16,772 16,998
Other accrued expenses 23,293 23,269
Current portion of long-term debt and lease obligations 25,792 26,020
Total current liabilities 156,188 173,155
Long-term debt, less current portion 432,695 109,624
Operating lease obligations, less current portion 16,675 22,533
Financing lease obligations, less current portion 17,293 19,942
Deferred income tax liability, net 31,481 33,016
Other liabilities 3,639 4974
Total liabilities 657,971 363,244
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock 351 644
Common stock 3,049 3,041
Additional paid-in capital 99,152 98,641
Treasury stock, at cost (168,573) (128,879)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20,488) (26,468)
Retained earnings 641,259 632,051
Total stockholders’ equity 554,750 579,030
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1212721 § 942,274

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income tax expense
Gain on the sale of assets
Provision for restructuring and impairment
Gain on debt forgiveness
Loss from equity investment
401(k) match stock contribution
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions):
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other
Income taxes
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of assets
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt
Payments on financing leases
Change in other assets
Purchase of treasury stock
Preferred stock dividends paid
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes

Noncash transactions:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Right-of-use assets derecognized upon early lease termination
Property, plant and equipment purchased on account

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

17

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)
9,231 46200 $ 126,100
40,941 36,523 32,375
(3,534) 7,134 16,650
(2,372) (1,861) (31,938)
4333 284 182
- (500) -
- 7,775 11,453
1,515 1,107 1,479
22,098 (26,976) 24,280
(266,903) (60,851) 68,487
2,743 (1,109) 4,083
(18,818) 19,487 (65,936)
(1,530) 2,939 (4,035)
(212,796) 30,152 183,180
(70,628) (53,367) (71,431)
5,751 8,180 73,688
(64.,877) (45,187) 2,257
951,510 398,550 478,059
(622,439) (383,011) (597,055)
(8,814) (7,363) (6,321)
- (2,758) (6,604)
(41,209) (38,788) (4,358)
(23) 23) 23)
279,025 (33,898) (136,302)
1,352 (48,933) 49,135
10,904 59,837 10,702
12,256 10904 $ 59,837
11,218 4481 8§ 5,094
9,084 2971  $ 22,692
10,187 20304 $ 6,246
3,588 1,570  $ 2,497
1,177 1267 $ 19
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Preferred Common Paid-In Treasury Comprehensive Retained
Stock Stock Capital Stock Loss Earnings
(Restated)
Balance March 31, 2020 $ 681 % 3041 $ 98384 § (88319) $ (79,220) $ 459,797
Net earnings - - - - - 126,100
Cash dividends paid on preferred stock - - - - - 23)
Equity incentive program - - 100 - - -
Contribution of 401(k) match - - - 1,479 - -
Purchase of treasury stock - - - (4,358) - -
Preferred stock conversion (18) - 18 - - -
Change in pension and postretirement
benefits adjustment (net of tax $19,528) - - - - 60,153 -
Balance March 31, 2021 663 3,041 98,502 (91,198) (19,067) 585,874
Net earnings - - - - - 46,200
Cash dividends paid on preferred stock - - - - - 23)
Equity incentive program - - 120 - - -
Contribution of 401(k) match - - - 1,107 - -
Purchase of treasury stock - - - (38,788) - -
Preferred stock conversion (19) - 19 - - -
Change in pension and postretirement
benefits adjustment (net of tax $2,423) - - - - (7,401) -
Balance March 31, 2022 644 3,041 98,641 (128,879) (26,468) 632,051
Net earnings - - - - - 9,231
Cash dividends paid on preferred stock - - - - - (23)
Equity incentive program - - 150 - - -
Stock issued for profit sharing plan 76
Contribution of 401(k) match - - - 1,515 - -
Purchase of treasury stock - - (41,209) - -
Preferred stock conversion (293) 8 285 - - -
Change in pension and postretirement
benefits adjustment (net of tax $1,999) = - - - 5,980 -
Balance March 31, 2023 $ 351 % 3049 $ 99,152 § (168,573) $ (20,488) $ 641,259
Preferred Stock Common Stock
6% Voting 10% Voting 2003 Series
Cumulative Cumulative Participating Participating Class A Class B
Callable Convertible Convertible Convertible Common Common
Par $0.25 Par $0.025 Par $0.025 Par $0.025 Par $0.25 Par $0.25
Shares authorized and designated:
March 31, 2023 200,000 1,400,000 8292 - 20,000,000 10,000,000
Shares outstanding:
March 31, 2021 200,000 807,240 33,855 500 7,353,545 1,709,638
March 31, 2022 200,000 807,240 32,256 500 6,627,318 1,705,930
March 31, 2023 200,000 807,240 8,292 - 5,928,424 1,707,241
Stock amount $ 50 $ 202 $ 9 3 - 8 2554 § 495

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations — Seneca Foods Corporation (the “Parent Company”) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) currently has 26 facilities in eight states in support of its
main operations. The Company markets private label and branded packaged foods to retailers and institutional food distributors.

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts for the Parent Company and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries after
elimination of intercompany transactions, profits, and balances.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States ("GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the related revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could
differ from those estimates.

Subsequent Events — The Company has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure through the date of issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Reclassifications — Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period classification.
Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents (Level 1), accounts receivable, short-term debt (Level 2) and accounts payable
approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. See Note 13, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, for a discussion of
the fair value of long-term debt.

The three-tier value hierarchy is utilized to prioritize the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobserved inputs (Level 3). The three levels are defined as follows:

e Level 1- Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

e Level 2- Quoted prices for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived
valuations in which all significant inputs or significant value-drivers are observable.

e Ievel 3- Model-derived valuations in which one or more inputs or value-drivers are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.

Accounts Receivable and Doubtful Accounts — Accounts receivable is stated at invoice value, which is net of any off-invoice promotions. In determining the
Company’s reserve for credit losses, receivables are assigned an expected loss based on historical information adjusted for forward-looking economic factors.
Management believes these provisions are adequate based upon the relevant information presently available.

Inventories — Substantially all inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”’) method. An actual
valuation of inventory under the LIFO method is made at the end of each fiscal year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. In contrast, interim LIFO
calculations are based on management’s estimates of expected year-end inventory levels, production pack yields, sales and the expected rate of inflation or deflation for
the year. The interim LIFO calculations are subject to adjustment in the final year-end LIFO inventory valuation.

Assets Held for Sale — The Company classifies its assets as held for sale at the time management commits to a plan to sell the asset, the asset is actively marketed and
available for immediate sale, and the sale is expected to be completed within one year. Due to market conditions, certain assets may be classified as held for sale for more
than one year as the Company continues to actively market the assets. Assets that meet the held for sale criteria are presented separately on the consolidated balance
sheet at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value less costs to sell and depreciation is no longer recognized.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Interest incurred during the construction of major projects is capitalized. For
financial reporting, the Company provides for depreciation on the straight-line method at rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the various assets. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Land improvements 10 - 20
Buildings and improvements 30
Machinery & equipment 10 - 15
Office furniture 3-5
Vebhicles 3-7
Computer software 3-5

Long-Lived Assets — The Company assesses its long-lived assets for impairment whenever there is an indicator of impairment. Impairment losses are evaluated if the
estimated undiscounted cash flows from using the assets are less than carrying value. A loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its fair value.

Additionally, the Company assesses the potential for an other-than-temporary impairment of its equity method investment when impairment indicators are identified by
considering all available information, including the recoverability of the investment, the earnings and near-term prospects of the investment, factors related to the
industry, amongst others relevant information. If an investment is considered to be impaired and the decline in value is other than temporary, an impairment charge is
recorded. During fiscal year 2022, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $6.3 million to reduce the carrying value of the equity method investment to $0, as the
value of the investment was determined to not be recoverable.

Deferred Financing Costs — Deferred financing costs incurred in obtaining debt are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the debt, which is not materially
different than using the effective interest rate method. As of March 31, 2023 there were $0.6 million of unamortized financing costs included in other assets related to the
Company’s revolving credit facility and $0.6 million of unamortized financing costs related to its term loans that are included as a contra to long-term debt and current
portion of long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition — Revenue recognition is completed for most customers at a point in time basis when product control is transferred to the customer. In general,
control transfers to the customer when the product is shipped or delivered to the customer based upon applicable shipping terms, as the customer can direct the use
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the asset at this point in time. The Company does sell certain finished goods inventory for cash on a bill and
hold basis. The terms of the bill and hold agreement(s) provide that title to the specified inventory is transferred to the customer(s) prior to shipment and the Company
has the right to payment (prior to physical delivery) which results in recorded revenue as determined under the revenue recognition standard.

See Note 3, Revenue Recognition, for further discussion of the policy.

Trade promotions are an important component of the sales and marketing of the Company’s branded products, and are critical to the support of the business. Trade
promotion costs, which are recorded as a reduction of sales, include amounts paid to retailers for shelf space, to obtain favorable display positions and to offer
temporary price reductions for the sale of our products to consumers. Accruals for trade promotions are recorded primarily at the time of sale to the retailer based on
expected levels of performance. Settlement of these liabilities typically occurs in subsequent periods primarily through an authorized process for deductions taken by a
retailer from amounts otherwise due to the Company. As a result, the ultimate cost of a trade promotion program is dependent on the relative success of the events and
the actions and level of deductions taken by retailers. Final determination of the permissible deductions may take extended periods of time.

Concentration of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of trade receivables, interest-bearing investments, and
cash and cash equivalents. Wholesale and retail food distributors comprise a significant portion of the trade receivables; collateral is generally not required. A relatively
limited number of customers account for a large percentage of the Company’s total net sales. The top ten customers represented approximately 55% and 53% of net
sales for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company closely monitors the credit risk associated with its customers. The Company places substantially all of
its interest-bearing investments with financial institutions and monitors credit exposure. Cash and short-term investments in certain accounts exceed the federal insured
limit; however, the Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Advertising Costs — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $2.2 million in each of fiscal years 2023 and 2022 and $1.8 million in fiscal year 2021.

Income Taxes — The provision for income taxes includes federal and state income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary differences between
the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities and tax credit carryforwards. The Company uses the flow-through method to account for its investment tax
credits.

The Company evaluates the likelihood of realization of its net deferred income tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance and by adjusting the amount of such
allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are the Company’s forecast of future taxable income, the projected reversal of temporary
differences and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred income tax assets.

Current rules on the accounting for uncertainty on income taxes prescribe a minimum recognition threshold for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return
that is required to be met before being recognized in the financial statements. Those rules also provide guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued on unrecognized tax benefits as well as
interest received from favorable settlements within income tax expense.

Earnings per Common Share — The Company has three series of convertible preferred stock, which are deemed to be participating securities that are entitled to
participate in any dividend on Class A common stock as if the preferred stock had been converted into common stock immediately prior to the record date for such
dividend. Basic earnings per share for common stock is calculated using the “two-class” method by dividing the earnings attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted average of common shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings attributable to common stockholders by the sum of the weighted average common shares outstanding plus
the dilutive effect of convertible preferred stock using the “if-converted” method, which treats the contingently-issuable shares of convertible preferred stock as
common stock. Restricted stock is included in the diluted earnings per share calculation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards — Effective April 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which was subsequently amended in November 2018 through ASU No. 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326,
Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (“ASU 2016-13”). The amended guidance requires entities to estimate lifetime expected credit losses for trade and other
receivables, including those that are current with respect to payment terms, along with other financial instruments which may result in earlier recognition of credit losses.
The Company evaluated its existing methodology for estimating an allowance for doubtful accounts and the risk profile of its receivables portfolio and developed a
model that includes the qualitative and forecasting aspects of the “expected loss” model under the amended guidance. In determining the Company’s reserve for credit
losses, receivables are assigned an expected loss based on historical information adjusted for forward-looking economic factors. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU
2020-04”). ASU 2020-04 provides an optional expedient and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by
reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The optional guidance can be applied from March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. ASU 2020-04 eases the potential
accounting burden associated with the expected discontinuance of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and other interbank offered rates, which are being
replaced by alternative reference rates such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). The interest rates associated with the Company’s previous borrowings
under its senior revolving credit facility (as defined in Note 8, “Long-term Debt”) were tied to LIBOR. Subsequent to the amendment of the senior revolving credit
facility agreement on September 14, 2022, the Company’s borrowings are tied to SOFR plus a spread adjustment (see Note 8, “Long-term Debt”). The adoption of ASU
2020-04 as a result of this amendment did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

There were no other recently issued accounting pronouncements that impacted the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Company did not
adopt any other new accounting pronouncements during fiscal year 2023.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

On July 25, 2023, we reported that we had identified an error related to our accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method of accounting as of March 31, 2023
and 2022. An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO method is made at the end of each fiscal year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. During the
formulaic valuation of actual inventory values at fiscal year end, incorrect quantities were applied to the calculation which resulted in an understatement of the LIFO
reserve as of March 31, 2023 and 2022. Management determined that correct LIFO quantities were applied to the actual valuation of LIFO at year end prior to fiscal year
2022, as only trivial differences were noted during Management's examination. In contrast, interim LIFO calculations are based on management’s estimates of expected
year-end inventory levels, production pack yields, sales and the expected rate of inflation or deflation for the year. The interim LIFO calculations are subject to
adjustment in the final year-end LIFO inventory valuation.

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are not presented in the following tables because there is no impact on total cash flows from operating activities, investing
activities and financing activities. The impact from the restatements within the operating activities section of the cash flow statement are illustrated in the balance sheet

and net earnings adjustments below. The following tables present a summary of the effects of these restatements:

Consolidated Statements of Net Earnings

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
As Reported Correction As Restated As Reported Correction As Restated
Cost of products sold $ 1,373,456 $ 31,577 $ 1,405,033 $ 1,237,348  $ 6336 $ 1,243,684
Total costs and expenses 1,456,416 31,577 1,487,993 1,314,935 6,336 1,321,271
Operating income 52,936 31,577) 21,359 70,345 (6,336) 64,009
Earnings before income taxes 45,370 (31,577) 13,793 66,231 (6,336) 59,895
Income taxes 12,232 (7,670) 4,562 15,224 (1,529) 13,695
Net earnings 33,138 (23,907) 9,231 51,007 (4,307) 46,200
Earnings per share:
Earnings per share - basic $ 423 § 3.04) § .19 3§ 583 $ 0.55) $ 5.28
Earnings per share - diluted $ 420 $ (304) $ 1.16 $ 579 $ 0.55) $ 524
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of:
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
As Reported Correction As Restated As Reported Correction As Restated

Assets

Inventories $ 708811  $ (37913) $ 670,898  § 410331  $ (6,336) $ 403,995

Refundable income taxes - 6,976 6,976 3,866 1,580 5446

Total current assets 824,976 (30,937) 794,039 555,442 4,756) $ 550,686

Total assets 1,243,658 (30,937) 1,212,721 947,030 (4,756) 942,274
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Income taxes payable 2,018 (2,018) $ - - -3 -

Total current liabilities 158,206 (2,018) 156,188 173,155 - 173,155

Deferred income tax liability, net $ 31,625  $ (144) $ 31481 § 32944  § 72 33,016

Other liabilities 3,700 61) 3,639 4,995 21) 4974

Total liabilities 660,194 (2,223) 657,971 363,193 51 363,244

Retained earnings 669,973 (28,714) 641,259 636,858 (4,807) 632,051

Total stockholders’ equity 583,464 (28,714) 554,750 583,837 (4,807) 579,030

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 1,243,658 (30,937) 1,212,721 947,030 (4,756) 942,274

Additionally, Notes 4, 5, 10, and 15 were impacted and restated as result of the error related to our accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method of
accounting.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Revenue Recognition

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 606-10, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers", and recognizes revenue under the core principle to depict the transfer
of products to customers in an amount reflecting the consideration the Company expects to receive. The Company conducts its business almost entirely in food
packaging, which contributed approximately 98% of the Company's fiscal year 2023 net sales.

Nature of products — The Company manufactures and sells the following:

*  private label products to retailers, such as supermarkets, mass merchandisers, and specialty retailers, for resale under the retailers’ own or controlled labels;
»  private label and branded products to the foodservice industry, including foodservice distributors and national restaurant operators;

*  branded products under our own proprietary brands, primarily on a national basis to retailers;

*  branded products under co-pack agreements to other major branded companies for their distribution; and

»  products to our industrial customer base for repackaging in portion control packages and for use as ingredients by other food manufacturers.

Disaggregation of revenue — In the following table, segment revenue is disaggregated by product category groups (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
Canned vegetables $ 1,253257 $ 1,135983 § 1,172,635
Frozen vegetables 121,211 123,895 102,197
Fruit products 91,495 84,708 88,431
Snack products 12,661 12,332 10,999
Prepared foods - - 71,866
Other 30,728 28,362 21,516
Total $ 1,509,352 $ 1,385280 $ 1,467,644

When Performance Obligations Are Satisfied — A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the
unit of account for revenue recognition. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the
performance obligation is satisfied. The Company’s primary performance obligation is the production of food products and secondarily case and labeling services and
storage services for certain bill and hold sales.

Revenue recognition is completed primarily at a point in time basis when product control is transferred to the customer. In general, control transfers to the customer
when the product is shipped or delivered to the customer based upon applicable shipping terms, as the customer can direct the use and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the asset at this point in time.

Customer contracts generally do not include more than one performance obligation. When a contract does contain more than one performance obligation, we allocate
the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The standalone selling price for each distinct good is
generally determined by directly observable data.

The performance obligations in our contracts are generally satisfied within one year. As such, we have not disclosed the transaction price allocated to remaining
performance obligations for labeling and storage as of March 31, 2023 which is included in deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Significant Payment Terms — Our customer contracts identify the product, quantity, price, payment and final delivery terms. Payment terms usually include early pay
discounts. We grant payment terms consistent with industry standards. Although some payment terms may be more extended, no terms beyond one year are granted at
contract inception. As a result, we do not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component because the period between
our transfer of a promised good or service to a customer and the customer’s payment for that good or service will be generally 30 days or less.

Shipping — All shipping and handling costs associated with outbound freight are accounted for as fulfillment costs and are included in the cost of sales; this includes
shipping and handling costs after control over a product has transferred to a customer.

23




Filer: Seneca Foods Corp Document Type: 10-K/A Sequence: 27
Project Type: 10-K/A Document Version: 35 Created By: Robin Salone
Description: Seneca 10-K/A March 31, 2023 Project ID: 95234 Created At: 7/31/2023 4:25:54 PM EDT

SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Variable Consideration — In addition to fixed contract consideration, some contracts include some form of variable consideration. Trade promotions are an important
component of the sales and marketing of the Company’s branded products, and are critical to the support of the business. Trade promotion costs, which are recorded as
a reduction of sales, include amounts paid to retailers for shelf space, to obtain favorable display positions and to offer temporary price reductions for the sale of our
products to consumers. Accruals for trade promotions are recorded primarily at the time of sale to the retailer based on expected levels of performance. Settlement of
these liabilities typically occurs in subsequent periods primarily through an authorized process for deductions taken by a retailer from amounts otherwise due to the
Company. As a result, the ultimate cost of a trade promotion program is dependent on the relative success of the events and the actions and level of deductions taken
by retailers. Final determination of the permissible deductions may take extended periods of time.

Contract Balances — The contract asset balances are $0.6 million and $0.9 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Refer to Note 7, Assets Held for Sale, for
contract liabilities. The Company does not have significant deferred revenue or unbilled receivable balances because of transactions with customers. The Company
does have deferred revenue for prepaid case and labeling and storage services which have been collected from bill and hold sales.

Contract Costs — We have identified certain incremental costs to obtain a contract, primarily sales commissions, requiring capitalization under the standard. The
Company continues to expense these costs as incurred because the amortization period for the costs would have been one year or less. The Company does not incur
significant fulfillment costs requiring capitalization.

4. Earnings per Share

Earnings per share for fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021 are as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)

Basic

Net earnings $ 9231 $ 46,200 $ 126,100
Deduct preferred stock dividends 23 23 23
Undistributed earnings 9,208 46,177 126,077
Earnings attributable to participating preferred shareholders 30 178 493
Earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 9178 § 45999 § 125,584
Weighted average common shares outstanding 7,196 8,707 9,088
Basic earnings per common share $ 119§ 528 § 13.82
Diluted

Earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 9,178 $ 45999 $ 125,584
Add dividends on convertible preferred stock 20 20 20
Earnings attributable to common stock on a diluted basis $ 9,198 $ 46,019 $ 125,604
Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic 7,796 8,707 9,088
Additional shares to be issued related to the equity compensation plan 7 4 3
Additional shares to be issued under full conversion of preferred stock 67 67 67
Total shares for diluted 7,870 8,778 9,158
Diluted earnings per share $ 116§ 524§ 13.72
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5. Inventories

The Company uses the LIFO method of valuing inventory as it believes this method allows for better matching of current production cost to current revenue. As of
March 31, 2023 and 2022, first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) based inventory costs exceeded LIFO based inventory costs, resulting in a LIFO reserve of $302.4 million and $170.8
million, respectively. In order to state inventories at LIFO, the Company recorded an increase to cost of products sold of $131.6 million and $42.2 million for fiscal years
2023 and 2022, respectively. The inventories by category and the impact of using the LIFO method are shown in the following table (in thousands):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Finished products $ 613,622 § 385,681
In process 75,123 23,652
Raw materials and supplies 284,593 165,491
973,338 574,824
Less excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost 302,440 170,829
Total inventories $ 670398  § 403,995
6. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is comprised of the following (in thousands):
As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
Land and land improvements $ 46978 $ 42,981
Buildings and improvements 214,110 202,444
Machinery and equipment 421,067 403,192
Office furniture, vehicles and computer software 11,738 10,003
Construction in progress 40,539 29,976
Property, plant and equipment, cost 734,432 688,596
Less: accumulated depreciation (433,220) (420,553)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 301212 § 268,043

Depreciation expense totaled $33.9 million, $30.2 million, and $27.1 million for fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

7. Assets Held For Sale

As of March 31, 2023, the Company has two non-operating facilities in the Pacific Northwest with a carrying value of $3.1 million and related idle production equipment
with a carrying value of $1.2 million that have met the criteria to be classified as held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company recorded charges of $2.3
million and $0.1 million in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively, in order to properly reflect the carrying value of the assets held for sale as equal to the lower of
carrying value or fair value less costs to sell.

As of March 31, 2023, the Company has executed sales agreements to sell one of the facilities and the related equipment therein to two unaffiliated buyers. A deposit of
$0.6 million has been received from the buyer of the production equipment and is recorded as a contract liability as of March 31, 2023, as the Company maintains control
of the equipment until the sale is finalized. The contract liability is included in other accrued expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as the sale is expected to close
and control of the equipment transferred to the buyer within twelve months.

The following table presents information related to the major classes of assets and liabilities that were held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
Property, plant and equipment (net) $ 4358 § 5979
Current assets held for sale $ 4358 $ 5,979
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8. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following (in thousands):

Revolving credit facility

Term loans
Term Loan A-1
Outstanding principal
Unamortized debt issuance costs
Term Loan A-1, net

Term Loan A-2
Outstanding principal
Unamortized debt issuance costs
Term Loan A-2, net

Other
Total long-term debt
Less current portion

Long-term debt, less current portion

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
180,598 $ 20,508
89,000 93,000
(68) (100)
88,932 92,900
173,500 -
(551) -
172,949 -
216 216
442,695 113,624
10,000 4,000
432,695 $ 109,624

Revolving credit facility — On March 24, 2021, the Company entered into a Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement that provides for a senior
revolving credit facility of up to $400 million that is seasonally adjusted (the “Revolver”). Maximum borrowing availability under the Revolver totals $300.0 million from
April through July and $400.0 million from August through March. The Revolver balance as of March 31, 2023 was $180.6 million and is included in Long-Term Debt in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet due to the Revolver’s March 24, 2026 maturity. In order to maintain availability of funds under the facility, the Company
pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolver. The Revolver is secured by substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable and inventories and
contains borrowing base requirements as well as a financial covenant, if certain circumstances apply. The Company utilizes its Revolver for general corporate purposes,
including seasonal working capital needs, to pay debt principal and interest obligations, and to fund capital expenditures and acquisitions. Seasonal working capital
needs are affected by the growing cycles of the vegetables the Company packages. The majority of vegetable inventories are produced during the months of June
through November and are then sold over the following year. Payment terms for vegetable produce are generally three months but can vary from a few days to seven
months. Accordingly, the Company’s need to draw on the Revolver may fluctuate significantly throughout the year.

the following table documents the quantitative data for short-term borrowings on the Revolver during fiscal years 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except for percentages):

Outstanding borrowings
Interest rate

Maximum amount of borrowings
Average outstanding borrowings
Weighted average interest rate

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2022
$ 180,598 $ 20,508
6.34% 1.71%
Fiscal Year:
2022
$ 350,828 $ 58,323
$ 159,670  $ 22,357
5.03% 1.37%
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Term loans — On May 28, 2020 the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement with Farm Credit East, ACA that provides for a
$100.0 million unsecured term loan (the “Term Loan”). The amended and restated agreement has a maturity date of June 1, 2025 and converted the Term Loan to a fixed
interest rate of 3.30% until maturity rather than a variable interest rate in addition to requiring quarterly principal payments of $1.0 million, which commenced during
fiscal year 2021. This agreement contains certain covenants, including maintaining a minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net worth.

On January 20, 2023, the Company entered into a Second Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement with Farm Credit East, ACA (the “Amended
Agreement”). The Amended Agreement governs two term loans, summarized below:

Term Loan A-1: The Amended Agreement continues certain aspects of the $100 million term loan described above, namely Term Loan A-1 will continue to bear interest
at a fixed interest rate of 3.3012%, mature on June 1, 2025, and remain unsecured.

Term Loan A-2: The Amended Agreement adds an additional term loan in the amount of $175 million that will mature on January 20, 2028, and is secured by a portion of
the Company’s property, plant and equipment. Term Loan A-2 bears interest at a variable interest rate based upon SOFR plus an additional margin determined by the
Company’s leverage ratio.

The Amended Agreement for Term Loan A-1 and Term Loan A-2 (collectively, the “Term Loans”) contains restrictive covenants usual and customary for loans of its
type, in addition to financial covenants including minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net worth which apply to both terms loans described above. In connection
with the Amended Agreement, the Company incurred $0.6 million of financing costs which will be deferred and amortized over the life of Term Loan A-2.

Covenants & other debt matters — The Company’s debt agreements, including the Revolver and term loan, contain customary affirmative and negative covenants that
restrict, with specified exceptions, the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, pay dividends on the Company’s capital stock, make other
restricted payments, including investments, transfer all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, enter into consolidations or mergers, and enter into transactions
with affiliates. The Company’s debt agreements also require the Company to meet certain financial covenants including a minimum EBITDA and minimum tangible net
worth. The Revolver contains borrowing base requirements related to accounts receivable and inventories and also requires the Company to meet a financial covenant
related to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio if (a) an event of default has occurred or (b) availability on the Revolver is less than the greater of (i) 10% of the
commitments then in effect and (ii) $25,000,000. The most restrictive financial covenant in the debt agreements is the minimum EBITDA within the Term Loan which for
fiscal year 2023 was greater than $75 million. The Company computes its financial covenants as if the Company were on the FIFO method of inventory accounting. The
Company has met all such financial covenants as of March 31, 2023.

The Company's debt agreements limit the payment of dividends and other distributions. There is an annual total distribution limitation of $50,000, less aggregate annual
dividend payments totaling $23,000 that the Company presently pays on two outstanding classes of preferred stock. The carrying value of assets pledged for secured
debt, including the Revolver, is $949.7 million as of March 31, 2023. Debt repayment requirements for the next five fiscal years are (in thousands):

2024 $ 10,000
2025 10,000
2026 267,598
2027 6,000
2028 149,500
Thereafter 216
Total S 443314
9. Leases

The Company determines whether an arrangement is a lease at inception of the agreement. Presently, the Company leases land, machinery and equipment under various
operating and financing leases.

Right-of-Use, or ROU, assets represent the Company’s right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and lease obligations represent the net present value of the
Company’s obligation to make payments arising from these leases. ROU assets and lease obligations are recognized at commencement date based on the present value
of lease payments over the lease term using the implicit lease interest rate or, when unknown, an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at
commencement date or April 1, 2019 for leases that commenced prior to that date.
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Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease, and the impact of these options are included in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease obligation
only when the exercise of the option is at the Company’s sole discretion and it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. The Company will not
separate lease and non-lease components for its leases when it is impractical to separate the two. In addition, the Company has certain leases that have variable
payments based solely on output or usage of the leased asset. These variable operating lease assets are excluded from the Company’s balance sheet presentation and
expensed as incurred. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, or short-term leases, are not recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. ROU
assets and lease obligations for the Company’s operating and financing leases are disclosed separately in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
components of lease cost were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
Lease cost:
Amortization of right of use asset $ 6,715 $ 5970 $ 4,746
Interest on lease liabilities 959 1,048 1,102
Finance lease cost 7,674 7,018 5,848
Operating lease cost 13,506 19,250 23,736
Total lease cost $ 21,180 $ 26268 $ 29,584
Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 959 $ 1,048 $ 1,102
Operating cash flows from operating leases 13,736 19,010 23,864
Financing cash flows from finance leases 8,814 7,868 6,321
Total $ 23509 $ 27,926 $ 31,287
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities $ 5825 % 9,754 $ 1,985
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 4362 $ 10,550  § 4,261
Weighted-average lease term (years):
Financing leases 4.7 4.6 45
Operating leases 4.6 43 35
Weighted-average discount rate:
Financing leases 3.8% 34% 4.1%
Operating leases 44% 42% 44%

Undiscounted future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases and financial leases, along with a reconciliation of undiscounted cash flows to operating
and financing lease liabilities, respectively, as of March 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Years ending March 31: Operating Financing
2024 $ 8627 $ 8,784
2025 6,092 5,353
2026 3,544 4,261
2027 3,028 3,203
2028 2,819 2,826
2029-2033 2,709 3,248
Total minimum payment required $ 26819 $ 27,675
Less interest 2,359 2,375
Present value of minimum lease payments 24,460 25,300
Amount due within one year 7,785 8,007
Long-term lease obligation $ 16,675 $ 17,293
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10. Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated federal and various state income tax returns. The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)
Current:
Federal $ 5819 § 3454 $ 13,121
State 2,271 3,107 4,145
Total 8,096 6,561 17,266
Deferred:
Federal $ (3,886) $ 7084 $ 13,486
State 352 50 3,164
Total (3,534) 7,134 16,650
$ 4562 $ 13695 $ 33916

Total income taxes

A reconciliation of the expected U.S. statutory rate to the effective rate follows:

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022 2021
(Restated) (Restated)

Computed (expected tax rate) 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
State income taxes (net of federal tax benefit) 41% 3.7% 3.1%
Federal credits -3.9% -0.9% -0.3%
State rate changes 2.8% 0.3% 0.0%
State credit expiration 2.1% 0.9% 0.0%
Change in valuation allowance 7.8% -1.2% 0.2%
Federal return to accrual -0.3% -1.0% 0.0%
State return to accrual -0.6% 0.1% 0.0%
Permanent differences 0.8% 0.2% 0.0%
Federal net operating loss (NOL) carryback rate difference 0.0% 0.0% -2.8%
Interest received on federal NOL carryback 0.0% -0.3% -02%
Uncertain tax benefits return to accrual 0.0% 0.3% 0.0%
Other -0.7% -0.2% 0.2%

33.1% 22.9% 21.2%

Effective income tax rate

The Company’s effective tax rate, as restated in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, was 33.1% and 22.9%, respectively and was 21.2% in fiscal year 2021. In fiscal year 2023, the
Company added a valuation allowance against state tax credits because it was determined that it was more likely than not that the credits will not be used prior to
expiration. This change, along with other current year increases in the existing valuation allowances, had a 9.0% increase on the fiscal year 2023 effective tax rate as
compared to fiscal year 2022. The fiscal year 2023 effective tax rate was further increased by 2.5% versus fiscal year 2022 due to state rate changes which were mostly
caused by changes in the Company’s business activities that impact state apportionment.

In fiscal year 2021, the Company was able to carryback the NOL generated in the 2019 tax year at a 21% corporate tax rate to the 2015 tax year at a 35% corporate tax rate.
The NOL carryback had a 2.8% decrease on the fiscal year 2021 rate and without this impact in fiscal year 2022, the tax rate effectively increased by 2.8% when
comparing fiscal year 2022 to 2021. The year over year increase in the effective tax rate was partially offset by a decrease of 0.6% due to the federal income tax credits
having a larger impact on the effective tax rate in fiscal year 2022, amongst other decreases noted in the table above.
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The following is a summary of the significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities (in thousands):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Deferred income tax assets:
Future tax credits $ 5007 $ 5,245
Inventory valuation 8,364 3,024
Employee benefits 2,335 2,191
Insurance 471 345
State depreciation basis differences 3218 -
Operating leases 942 -
Intangibles 1,514 -
Other comprehensive loss 7117 8,975
Interest 8 3
Prepaid revenue 296 374
Net operating loss and other tax attribute carryovers 1,233 614
Other 327 -
Total assets 30,832 20,771
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property basis and depreciation difference 26,450 21,805
Inventory reserve 2,101 -
Intangibles - 17
Right-of-use assets 7,045 5,764
Pension 21,528 21,253
Other 182 1,017
Total liabilities 57,306 49,856
Valuation allowance - noncurrent 5,007 3,931
Deferred income tax liability, net $ (31481) § (33,016)

Net deferred income tax liabilities, as restated, of $31.5 million and $33.0 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are recognized as noncurrent liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company has State tax credit carryforwards amounting to $1.5 million (California, net of Federal impact), $1.3 million (New York, net of Federal impact), and $2.2
million (Wisconsin, net of Federal impact), which are available to reduce future taxes payable in each respective state through 2028 (California), through 2035 (New York),
and through 2038 (Wisconsin). The Company has performed the required assessment regarding the realization of deferred tax assets and as of March 31, 2023, the
Company has recorded a valuation allowance amounting to $5.0 million, which relates primarily to tax credit carryforwards which management has concluded it is more
likely than not they will not be realized in the ordinary course of operations. Although realization is not assured, management has concluded that it is more likely than
not that the deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance was determined to be unnecessary will be realized in the ordinary course of operations. The amount of
net deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced if actual future income or income tax rates are lower than estimated or if there are differences in
the timing or amount of future reversals of existing taxable or deductible temporary differences.
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Current rules on the accounting for uncertainty on income taxes prescribe a minimum recognition threshold for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return
that is required to be met before being recognized in the financial statements. Those rules also provide guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company classifies the liability for uncertain tax positions in other accrued expenses or other
long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets depending on their expected settlement date. The change in the liability for fiscal years 2023 and 2022 consists
of the following (in thousands):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
(Restated) (Restated)
Beginning balance $ 655 $ 376
Tax positions related to current year:
Additions 96 139
Tax positions related to prior years:
Additions - 215
Reductions - -
Lapses in statues of limitations ©) (75)
Ending balance $ 428 655

The liability balances as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 do not include tax positions that are highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing. Because of
the impact of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, the disallowance of these positions would not impact the annual effective tax rate but would
accelerate the payment of cash to the tax authority to an earlier period.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued on unrecognized tax benefits as well as interest received from favorable settlements within income tax expense.
During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, the accrued interest and penalties balance and change during the respective fiscal years was not significant associated with
unrecognized tax benefits.

Although management believes that an adequate position has been made for uncertain tax positions, there is the possibility that the ultimate resolution could have an
adverse effect on the net earnings of the Company. Conversely, if resolved favorably in the future, the related provisions would be reduced, thus having a positive
impact on net earnings. During fiscal year 2023, the statute of limitations lapsed on one uncertain tax position, which results in the position no longer being uncertain.
As a result of this lapse and in accordance with its accounting policies, the Company recorded an insignificant decrease to the liability and tax expense.

The federal income tax returns for fiscal years after 2015 are open because the Company claimed refunds on taxable income for fiscal years 2017 and 2016. These years
will remain open until fiscal years 2018 and 2020, which were taxable loss years, are closed however the exposure is limited to the refund amounts for each fiscal year.

Fiscal years 2018, 2019, and 2020 are currently under audit with the Internal Revenue Service.
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11. Retirement Plans
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) covering most employees who meet certain age-entry requirements and work a stated
minimum number of hours per year. The Plan was amended to freeze accruals to new hires and rehires effective January 1, 2020. The Plan was adequately funded as of

March 31, 2023 and 2022 and no contributions were required to meet legal funding requirements.

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the Plan’s benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets over the two-year period ended March 31, 2023
and a statement of the funded status as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 275,001 $ 286,063
Service cost 7,429 8,483
Interest cost 9,254 7,721
Actuarial gain (47,403) 972)
Benefit payments and expenses (9,243) (26,294)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 235038 § 275,001
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 327867 $ 348914
Actual return on plan assets (23,169) 6,666
Benefit payments and expenses (10,356) (27,713)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 294342 8§ 327,867
Funded status $ 59304 $ 52,866

The Plan’s funded status increased by $6.4 million during fiscal year 2023 reflecting the actual fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obligation as of March
31, 2023. This funded status increase was primarily driven by actuarial gains on the projected benefit obligation, as described in more detail below, partially offset by a
combination of growth in the Plan’s projected benefit obligation due to service cost and interest cost and a negative return on plan assets.

During fiscal year 2023, the actuarial gain in the pension plan’s projected benefit obligation was driven by an increase in discount rates and the annual update in plan
census data resulting in demographic gains, partially offset by an assumed salary increase rate for fiscal year 2024 in excess of the long-term rate. During fiscal year
2022, the actuarial gain in the pension plan’s projected benefit obligation was primarily driven by an increase in discount rates. The gain was partially offset by actuarial
losses due to a combination of data revisions resulting in the demographic losses, a change in near-term assumed salary increases, and an update to the most recently
released mortality projection scale by the Society of Actuaries (SOA). Plan assets decreased from $327.9 million as of March 31,2022 to $294.3 million as of March 31,
2023 primarily due to normal payments of benefits and a negative return on plan assets.

The following table provides the components of the Plan’s accumulated other comprehensive loss, pre-tax (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:

2023 2022 2021
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Pre-Tax Loss
Prior service cost $ 75 $ (167) $ (258)
Net loss (28,310) (36,136) (26,265)
Accumulated other comprehensive pre-tax loss $ (28385) $ (36,303) $ (26,523)
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The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Plan for fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
Service cost including administration $ 8240 $ 9,508 $ 10,627
Interest cost 9,254 7,721 9,266
Expected return on plan assets (16,104) (17,114) (15,804)
Amortization of net loss - - 9,919
Prior service cost 91 91 91
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1481 8§ 206 $ 14,099

The Company utilizes a full yield curve approach in the estimation of net periodic benefit cost components by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve
used in determination of the benefit obligation to their underlying projected cash flows.

Prior service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active participants. Gains and losses in excess of 10% of the
greater of the benefit obligation and the market-related value of assets are amortized over the average remaining service period of active participants.

The assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation and pension expense are shown in the following table:

Fiscal Year:
2023 2022 2021
Weighted Average Assumptions for Balance Sheet Liability at End of Year:
Discount rate - projected benefit obligation 5.04% 3.81% 343%
Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Mortality table
Weighted Average Assumptions for Benefit Cost at Beginning of Year:

Discount rate - benefit obligations
Discount rate - interest cost
Discount rate - service cost
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

Plan Assets

Pri-2012 Blue Collar
Generational Table
Improvement Scale

MP-2021

3.81%
3.52%
3.93%
5.00%
3.00%

Pri-2012 Blue Collar
Generational Table
Improvement Scale

MP-2021

343%
2.68%
3.75%
5.00%
3.00%

Pri-2012 Blue Collar
Generational Table
Improvement Scale

MP-2020

3.69%
3.30%
3.87%
725%
3.00%

Investment Policy and Strategy - The Company maintains an investment policy that utilizes a liability-driven investments approach to reduce the ongoing volatility of
the Plan’s funded status. During fiscal year 2023, the Company updated its current target allocation to be 20% allocated to a diversified mix of return-seeking
investments including equities and alternative investments and 80% allocated to liability-hedging fixed income investments.




Filer: Seneca Foods Corp Document Type: 10-K/A Sequence: 37
Project Type: 10-K/A Document Version: 35 Created By: Robin Salone
Description: Seneca 10-K/A March 31, 2023 Project ID: 95234 Created At: 7/31/2023 4:25:54 PM EDT

SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company's plan assets consist of the following:

Target Percentage of Plan
Allocation for: Assets as of:
Fiscal Year March 31, March 31,
2024 2023 2022
Equity securities 16% 13% 21%
Debt securities 80% 75% 61%
Real estate 2% 8% 7%
Cash 1% 1% 7%
Other 1% 3% 4%
Total 100% 100% 100%

The following tables set forth the Company’s plan assets at fair value, by level within the fair value hierarchy (as defined in Note 1), as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, (in
thousands):

As of March 31, 2023

Measured
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 N Subtotal at NAV (1) Total
Equity securities $ 25045 $ - 3 - $ 25045 $ - 8 25,045
Held in common/collective trusts
Equity securities - - - - 12,639 12,639
Real estate - - - - 24,766 24,766
Debt securities - - - - 219,767 219,767
Cash/short-term investments
) - - - - 2,799 2,799
Other investments = - - - 9,326 9,326
Fair value of p]an assets $ 25,045 $ - $ - $ 25,045 $ 269,297 $ 294,342
As of March 31, 2022
Measured
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 N Subtotal at NAV (1) Total
Equity securities $ 29427 $ - 3 - $ 29427 $ -3 29,427
Held in common/collective trusts
Equity securities - - - - 40,969 40,969
Real estate - - - - 23,200 23,200
Debt securities - - - - 200,224 200,225
Cash/short-term investments
?2) - - - - 22,224 22224
Other investments - - - - 11,822 11,822
Fair value of plan assets $ 20427 $ -3 - $ 20427 $ 298439 $ 327,867

(1) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the
fair value hierarchy but are included to reconcile to the amounts presented in our Obligations and Funded Status table.

(2) The cash/short term investments consist of a money market fund that holds individual, high quality, short duration fixed income investments, however the fund
does not trade on public markets. The Company elected to consistently apply the practical expedient to all investments within common/collective trusts, and
therefore, the fair value of this fund is measured at net asset value per share.
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SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expected Return on Plan Assets

For fiscal year 2023, the expected long-term rate of return on Plan assets was 5.00%. For fiscal year 2024, the Company will increase the expected long-term rate of return
on Plan assets to 6.15%. The Company expected 5.00% and 6.15% to fall within the 35 to 65 percentile range of returns on investment portfolios with asset
diversification similar to that of the Plan's target asset allocation for fiscal years 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Cash Flows

Expected contributions for fiscal year ending March 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Expected Employer Contributions $ =
Expected Employee Contributions $ -

Estimated future benefit payments reflecting expected future service for the fiscal years ending March 31 (in thousands):

2024 $ 10,706
2025 11,446
2026 12,210
2027 12,975
2028 13,648
2029 - 2033 76,496

401(k) Plans

The Company also has employees’ savings 401(k) plans covering all employees who meet certain age-entry requirements and work a stated minimum number of hours
per year. Participants may make contributions up to the legal limit. The Company’s matching contributions are discretionary. Costs charged to operations for the
Company’s matching contributions amounted to $1.5 million, $1.1 million, and $1.6 million in fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. In each of the aforementioned
fiscal years, the matching contribution was entirely treasury stock. This stock portion of the matching contribution is valued at current market value while the treasury
stock is valued at cost.

Unfunded Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company sponsors an unfunded nonqualified deferred compensation plan to permit certain eligible employees to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation to
a future date. This plan was designed to compensate the plan participants for any loss of company contributions under the 401(k) plans. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Company has accrued $1.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in connection with the unfunded deferred compensation plan.

12. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock — The Company has authorized three classes of preferred stock consisting of 200,000 shares of Six Percent (6%) Voting Cumulative Preferred Stock,
par value $0.25 (“6% Preferred”); 30,000 shares of Preferred Stock Without Par Value to be issued in series by the Board of Directors, none of which are currently
designated or outstanding; and 8,200,000 shares of Preferred Stock with $0.025 par value, Class A, to be issued in series by the Board of Directors (“Class A Preferred”).
The Board of Directors has designated four series of Class A Preferred including 10% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock—Series A (“Series A Preferred”);
10% Cumulative Convertible Voting Preferred Stock—Series B (“Series B Preferred”); Convertible Participating Preferred Stock; and Convertible Participating Preferred
Stock, Series 2003.
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The Convertible Participating Preferred Stock and Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, Series 2003 are convertible at the holders’ option on a one-for-one basis into
shares of Class A Common Stock, subject to antidilution adjustments. These series of preferred stock have the right to receive dividends and distributions at a rate
equal to the amount of any dividends and distributions declared or made on the Class A Common Stock. No dividends were declared or paid on this preferred stock in
fiscal year 2023 or 2022. In addition, these series of preferred stock have certain distribution rights upon liquidation. Upon conversion, shares of these series of preferred
stock become authorized but unissued shares of Class A Preferred and may be reissued as part of another series of Class A Preferred. As of March 31, 2023, the
Company has an aggregate of 6,791,708 shares of non-designated Class A Preferred authorized for issuance.

The Convertible Participating Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $12 per share and a stated value of $11.931 per share. There were 8,292 shares outstanding
as of March 31, 2023 and 23,964 conversions during the fiscal year. The Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, Series 2003 was issued as partial consideration of the
purchase price in the Chiquita Processed Foods acquisition. The 967,742 shares issued in that 2003 acquisition were valued at $16.60 per share which represented the
then market value of the Class A Common Stock into which the preferred shares were immediately convertible. This series has a liquidation preference of $15.50 per
share and has no shares outstanding as of March 31, 2023.

There are 407,240 shares of Series A Preferred outstanding as of March 31, 2023 which are convertible into one share of Class A Common Stock and one share of Class B
Common stock for every 20 shares of Series A Preferred. There are 400,000 shares of Series B Preferred outstanding as of March 31, 2023 which are convertible into one
share of Class A Common Stock and one share of Class B Common Stock for every 30 shares of Series B preferred. There are 200,000 shares of 6% Preferred outstanding
as of March 31, 2023 which are callable at their par value at any time at the option of the Company. The Company paid dividends of $20,000 on the Series A and Series B
Preferred and $3,000 on the 6% Preferred during each of fiscal year 2023 and 2022.

Common Stock — The Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock have substantially identical rights with respect to any dividends or distributions of cash
or property declared on shares of common stock, and rank equally as to the right to receive proceeds on liquidation or dissolution of the Company after payment of the
Company’s indebtedness and liquidation right to the holders of preferred shares. However, holders of Class B Common Stock retain a full vote per share, whereas the
holders of Class A Common Stock have voting rights of 1/20th of one vote per share on all matters as to which shareholders of the Company are entitled to vote. During
fiscal year 2023, there were 1,319 shares of Class B Common Stock issued in lieu of cash compensation under the Company's Profit Sharing Bonus Plan.

Unissued shares of common stock reserved for conversion privileges of designated non-participating preferred stock were 33,695 of both Class A and Class B as of
March 31, 2023 and 2022. Additionally, there were 8,292 and 32,756 shares of Class A reserved for conversion of the Participating Preferred Stock as of March 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Treasury Stock — During fiscal year 2023 the Company repurchased $41.2 million, or 766,071 shares of its Class A Common Stock and none of its Class B Common
Stock. As of March 31, 2023, there is a total of $168.6 million, or 4,566,242 shares, of repurchased stock. These shares are not considered outstanding. The Company
contributed $1.5 million or 39,177 treasury shares for the 401 (k) match in fiscal year 2023 as described in Note 11, Retirement Plans.

13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount and estimated fair values of the Company's long-term debt are summarized as follows (in thousands):

As of:
March 31, March 31,
2023 2022
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Long-term debt, including current portion $ 442,695 § 436293 § 113624 § 108,608

The estimated fair value for long-term debt is determined by the quoted market prices for similar debt (comparable to the Company’s financial strength) or current rates
offered to the Company for debt with the same maturities which is Level 2 from the fair value hierarchy. Since quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets are
not available (Level 1), the Company makes use of observable market based inputs to calculate fair value, which is Level 2.
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14. Other Operating Income and Expense

The Company had net other operating income of $1.7 million in fiscal year 2023, which was driven primarily by gains on the sale of the Company’s western trucking fleet
and an aircraft, along with a favorable true-up of the supplemental early retirement plan accrual. This other operating income was partially offset by a write down of idle
equipment to estimated selling price, less commission, as the assets met the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

The Company had net other operating expense of $1.2 million in fiscal year 2022, which was driven by charges for supplemental early retirement plans and to maintain
non-operating facilities classified as held for sale. These charges were partially offset by a net gain on the sale of assets and a gain from debt forgiveness on an
economic development loan.

The Company had net other operating income of $29.0 million in fiscal year 2021, which was primarily comprised of a net gain on the sale of assets, due largely to the
gain realized upon the divestiture of the Company’s prepared foods business. The gain was partially offset by charges to maintain non-operational plants acquired in
the Midwest, a charge for a supplemental early retirement plan, and a charge for severance.

15. Segment Information

The Company has historically managed its business on the basis of three reportable food packaging segments: (1) fruits and vegetables, (2) prepared food products and
(3) snack products, with non-food packaging sales comprising the other category. The other category includes the sale of cans, ends, seed, and outside revenue from
the Company's trucking and aircraft operations. During fiscal year 2021, the Company sold its prepared foods business, leaving just two reportable segments along with

the other category. Export sales represented 6.7%, 7.2% and 7.2% of total sales in fiscal 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The following table summarizes certain financial data for the Company’s reportable segments (in thousands):

Fruit and Prepared Snack

Vegetable Foods Products Other Total

(Restated) (Restated)
Fiscal Year 2023:
Net sales $ 1,465963  $ - 3 12,661 $ 30,728 $ 1,509,352
Operating income 19,695 - (1,241) 2,905 21,359
Capital expenditures 64,192 - 131 7482 71,805
Depreciation and amortization 40,256 - 102 583 40,941
Fiscal Year 2022:
Net sales $ 1,344,586  $ - 3 12332 § 28362 $ 1,385,280
Operating income 60,414 - 75 3,520 64,009
Capital expenditures 47421 - 67 4,612 52,100
Depreciation and amortization 36,126 - 121 276 36,523
Fiscal Year 2021:
Net sales $ 1,363,263  $ 71,866 $ 10999 $ 21,516  $ 1,467,644
Operating income 175,810 1,967 705 2,585 181,067
Capital expenditures 67,963 1451 508 1,528 71,450
Depreciation and amortization 29,533 2,299 194 349 32,376

After the sale of the prepared foods business in fiscal year 2021, over 99% of the Company’s total assets from the Consolidated Balance Sheets belong to the fruit and
vegetable segment and this information is no longer necessary.
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16. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company is made a party to certain legal proceedings seeking monetary damages, including proceedings involving product
liability claims, workers’ compensation along with other employee claims, tort and other general liability claims, for which it carries insurance, as well as patent
infringement and related litigation. The Company is in a highly regulated industry and is also periodically involved in government actions for regulatory violations and
other matters surrounding the manufacturing of its products, including, but not limited to, environmental, employee, and product safety issues. While it is not feasible to
predict or determine the ultimate outcome of these matters, the Company does not believe that an adverse decision in any of these legal proceedings would have a
material adverse impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

17. Plant Restructuring

The following table summarizes the restructuring charges recorded and the accruals established during fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Severance Other
Payable Costs Total
Balance March 31, 2020 $ 202 $ - 202
Charge to expense 227 45) 182
Cash payments/write offs (429) 45 (384)
Balance March 31, 2021 - - -
Charge to expense - 70 70
Cash payments/write offs - (70) (70)
Balance March 31, 2022 - - -
Charge to expense 361 3,189 3,550
Cash payments/write offs (244) (3,189) (3,433)
Balance March 31, 2023 $ u7 s - 8 117

During fiscal year 2023, the Company incurred restructuring charges primarily due to ceasing production of green beans at a plant in the Northeast. The charges mainly
consisted of severance and write-downs of production equipment that was to be scrapped or sold. During fiscal years 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred
restructuring charges primarily related to plants that were closed in previous periods, including severance, health care costs, and lease impairments, amongst other
minor changes.

18. Related Party Transactions

During fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, less than 1% of vegetables supplied to the Company are grown by a Director of Seneca Foods Corporation. The Company’s
grower purchases from the Director were $3.1 million, $2.9 million, and $2.2 million in fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, pursuant to a raw vegetable grower
contract. The Chairman of the Audit Committee reviewed the relationship and determined that the contract was negotiated at arm's length and on no more favorable
terms than to other growers in the marketplace.

The Company made charitable contributions to the Seneca Foods Foundation, a related party, in the amount of $0.5 million, $1.0 million and $1.0 million in fiscal years
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Foundation is a nonprofit entity that supports charitable activities by making grants to unrelated organizations or institutions and
is managed by current employees of the Company.

During fiscal year 2022, the Company recorded a liability for retirement arrangements to beneficiaries of certain former employees of the Company that have family
relationships to two of the Company’s current Directors. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022, the liability for these benefits totaled $1.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Payments are made monthly over the beneficiary’s lifetime.

38




Filer: Seneca Foods Corp Document Type: 10-K/A Sequence: 42
Project Type: 10-K/A Document Version: 35 Created By: Robin Salone
Description: Seneca 10-K/A March 31, 2023 Project ID: 95234 Created At: 7/31/2023 4:25:54 PM EDT

SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. Subsequent Event

On May 23, 2023, the Company entered into Second Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement Amendment 1 with Farm Credit East, ACA (“the
Amendment”). The Amendment amends, restates and replaces in its entirety Term Loan A-2 (as defined in Note 8, Long-Term Debt) and provides a single advance term
facility in the principal amount of $125.0 million to be combined with the existing $173.5 million Term Loan A-2 into one single $298.5 million term loan (“Amended Term
Loan A-2”). Amended Loan Term A-2 is secured by a portion of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and bears interest at a variable interest rate based upon
SOFR plus an additional margin determined by the Company’s leverage ratio.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Prior to the filing of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 (the “Original Filing”), our management, with the participation of our Principal Executive
Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act), as of March 31, 2023. Based upon this evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers concluded that, as of March 31,
2023, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures: (1) were designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company is made known to our Principal
Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared, so as to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure and (2) were effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms.

Subsequent to this evaluation and conclusion, on July 25, 2023, we reported that we had identified an error related to our accounting for valuing inventory using the
LIFO method. As a result of this error, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have now concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were not effective at a reasonable assurance level as of March 31, 2023, solely as a result of the material weakness identified in Management's Report on our Internal
Control over Financial Reporting related to accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method as discussed below.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Prior to the filing of our Original Filing, our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023. In
making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, our management believed that, as of March 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting was
effective based on those criteria. Subsequently, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting relating to the accounting for valuing
inventory using the LIFO method. Specifically, the review controls in place with respect to a year-end adjustment to the calculation of the LIFO reserve were not
effective. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness in our internal
controls resulted in the restatement of our fiscal 2023 and 2022 financial statements included in this report. As a result, management has now concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was not effective as of March 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

Plante Moran, P.C., an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
and, as part of its audit, has issued an attestation report, included herein, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The material weakness described above, which related to the accounting for valuing inventory using the LIFO method, was identified after the end of the period covered
by the Original Filing. We have implemented certain remedial measures including the installation of software to recalculate the LIFO reserve and also provide analytic
features to identify potential abnormalities in the underlying data coupled with strengthening our review controls with improved documentation standards, technical
oversight and training to ensure the accounting valuing inventory was in compliance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The material weakness cannot
be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these
controls are operating effectively.

Except as otherwise discussed above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material

weaknesses.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Seneca Foods Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023 of Seneca Foods Corporation (the “Company”), based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO framework”). In our
opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described in the following paragraph on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company
has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023, based on criteria established in the COSO framework.

In our report dated June 13, 2023, we expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The material weakness described
below was subsequently identified in connection with the restatement of the Company’s previously issued consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, management
has revised its assessment about the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and our present opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023, as expressed herein, is different from that expressed in our previous report. The material
weakness was considered in connection with the aforementioned restatement, and this report does not affect our opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has
been identified and included in management’s assessment. Management identified a deficiency in its review controls related to the Company’s valuation of inventory
under the LIFO method.

We also have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of net
earnings, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2023, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”), in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). The
material weakness described above was considered in connection with the aforementioned restatement and in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests
applied in our audit of the March 31, 2023 financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the effect of the restatement
disclosed in Notes 2 and 5, as to which the date is July 31, 2023), which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Plante Moran, P.C.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Southfield, Michigan
June 13, 2023 (except for the material weakness described above as to which the date is July 31, 2023)
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu
A. Exhibits, Financial Statements, and Supplemental Schedule

L.

2.

Financial Statements — the following consolidated financial statements of the Registrant, , are incorporated by reference in Part II, Item 8 “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data”:

a.

g.

Consolidated Statements of Net Earnings — Years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) — Years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheets — As of March 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity — Years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years ended March 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 6581)

Supplemental Schedule:

a.

b.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Schedule

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Other schedules have not been filed because the conditions requiring the filing do not exist or the required information is included in the consolidated financial
statements, including the notes thereto.

Exhibit

Number

3.1

32

33

4.1

10.1

102

103

Description

The Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated

August 11.2010)

The Company’s Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended
July 1. 1995 filed with the SEC on August 18, 1995

Amendment to the Company’s Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 6

2007)

Description of Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March

31.2019)

Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 24, 2021 by and among Seneca Foods Corporation, Seneca Foods
LLC. Seneca Snack Company. Green Valley Foods, LLC and certain other subsidiaries of Seneca Foods Corporation. the financial institutions party

thereto as lenders, as agent, issuing bank, and syndication agent. and BofA Securities, Inc. as lead arranger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 26, 2021)

First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 14. 2022 by and among Seneca Foods
Corporation, Seneca Foods, LLC, Seneca Snack Company., Green Valley Foods, LLC and certain other subsidiaries of Seneca Foods Corporation, the

financial institutions party thereto as lenders, as agent, issuing bank, and syndication agent, and BofA Securities, Inc. as lead arranger (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 1. 2022, filed with the SEC on
November 9, 2022

Second Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement as of January 20. 2023 by and among Seneca Foods Corporation, Seneca Foods, LLC
Seneca Snack Company. Green Valley Foods. LLC and certain other subsidiaries of Seneca Foods Corporation and Farm Credit East. ACA
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2023)
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000008894810000034/ex31restatedcoi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/0000088948-95-000009.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000008894807000035/ex38k110607.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774919011972/ex_146696.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774921007287/ex_237147.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774922026604/ex_439001.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774923001850/ex_467952.htm
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104 Amendment 1 to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Guaranty Agreement as of May 23, 2023 by and among Seneca Foods Corporation, Seneca

10.5

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

21

32

101.INS
101.1.SCH
101.2.CAL
101.3.DEF
101.4LAB
101.5
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Foods, LLC, Seneca Snack Company. Green Valley Foods, LLC and certain other subsidiaries of Seneca Foods Corporation and Farm Credit East. ACA

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 30, 2023

Indemnification Agreement between the Company and the directors of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 26, 2020, filed with the SEC on November 4, 2020)

Amended and Restated Seneca Foods Corporation Executive Profit Sharing Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on June 10, 2022)

Amended and Restated Seneca Foods Corporation Manager Profit Sharing Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on June 10, 2022)

2007 Equity Incentive Plan effective August 3. 2007 as extended on July 28, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy
Statement dated June 28. 2007)

Seneca Foods Corporation Division Management Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K dated February 5. 2020)

Executive Transition Services Agreement dated as of August 31, 2020 between the Company and Kraig H. Kayser (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 26, 2020, filed with the SEC on November 4
2020)

Supplemental Retirement Agreement between Seneca Foods Corporation and Kraig H. Kayser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 26, 2020, filed with the SEC on November 4. 2020)

Supplemental Retirement Agreement between Seneca Foods Corporation and Timothy J. Benjamin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 11, 2021)

List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on June 13, 2023)
Consent of Plante Moran, P.C. (filed herewith)

Certification of Paul L. Palmby as Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)
Certification of Michael S. Wolcott as Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)
Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Instance Document (filed herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Schema Document (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed herewith)

Cover page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101.*) (filed
herewith)

* Indicates management or compensatory agreement
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774920022530/ex_208558.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774922014782/ex_381512.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774922014782/ex_381513.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000008894807000024/proxy033107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774920001793/ex_170902.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774920022530/ex_208556.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774920022530/ex_208557.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774921014604/ex_256656.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/88948/000143774923017258/ex_527821.htm
ex_547819.htm
ex_547820.htm
ex_547821.htm
ex_547822.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

SENECA FOODS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Michael S. Wolcott

Michael S. Wolcott
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

July 31,2023
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Schedule 1T

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In thousands)

Seneca Foods Corporation and Subsidiaries

Year-ended March 31, 2023:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Income tax valuation allowance

Year-ended March 31, 2022:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Income tax valuation allowance

Year-ended March 31, 2021:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Income tax valuation allowance

(a) Accounts written off, net of recoveries.

Project ID: 95234 Created At: 7/31/2023 4:25:54 PM EDT
Charged/ Balance
Balance at (credited) Deductions at end
beginning to income from of period
of period (Restated) reserve (Restated)
54 8 (20) @ $ 34
3931 $ 1,076 - $ 5,007
339 $ (291) ©) @ $ 54
4674 $ (743) - $ 3,931
1,598 $ (1,304) 45) @ $ 339
4473 § 201 - $ 4,674
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Seneca Foods Corporation
Fairport, New York

The audit referred to in our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the effect of the restatement disclosed in Notes 2 and 5, as to which the date is July 31, 2023) relating to
the consolidated financial statements of Seneca Foods Corporation also included the audit of the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying
index. This consolidated financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this
consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audit.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Plante Moran, P.C.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Southfield, Michigan
June 13, 2023 (except for the March 31, 2023 income tax valuation allowance as to which the date is July 31, 2023)
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-12365, 333-145916 and 333-166846) on Form S-8 of Seneca Foods Corporation with
respect to our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the effect of the restatement disclosed in Notes 2 and 5, as to which the date is July 31, 2023), relating to the
consolidated financial statements and our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the material weakness discussed in Management's Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, as to which the date is July 31, 2023) with respect to internal control over financial reporting, which are included in this Form 10-K/A of Seneca
Foods Corporation. We also consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated June 13, 2023 (except for the March 31, 2023 income tax valuation allowance as
to which the date is July 31, 2023) relating to the consolidated financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K/A.

/s/ Plante Moran, P.C.

Southfield, Michigan
July 31,2023
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Paul L. Palmby, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A (Amendment No. 1) of Seneca Foods Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

By:  /s/ Paul L. Palmby
Paul L. Palmby
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

July 31,2023
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
1, Michael S. Wolcott, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A (Amendment No. 1) of Seneca Foods Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

By: /s/ Michael S. Wolcott
Michael S. Wolcott
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

July 31,2023
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EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18. U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Seneca Foods Corporation (the "Registrant") on Form 10-K/A (Amendment No. 1) for the period ended March 31, 2023 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we, Paul L. Palmby, President, Chief Executive Officer and Michael S. Wolcott, Chief
Financial Officer, of the Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
By: /s/ Paul L. Palmby

Paul L. Palmby
President and Chief Executive Officer

July 31,2023

By: /s/ Michael S. Wolcott
Michael S. Wolcott
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer

July 31,2023



